UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2009

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @wurt

Maryland 001-13100 56-187166¢&
(State or other jurisdiction (Commission (I.R.S. Employer
of incorporation or organizatior File Number) Identification Number

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @wart

North Carolina 00C-21731 56-1869557
(State or other jurisdiction (Commission (I.R.S. Employer
of incorporation or organizatior File Number) Identification Number

3100 Smoketree Court, Suite 600
Raleigh, NC 27604

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

919-872-4924

(Registrants’ telephone number, including area fode

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @3 filed all reports required to be filed by Sewtit3 or 15(d) of the Securiti
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofwhdor such shorter period that the registrans wequired to file such reports), and
has been subject to such filing requirements ferphst 90 days.

Highwoods Properties, Inc.Yes[X] No [ Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership Yes[X] No [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hdsrstted electronically and posted on its corpok&feb site, if any, every Interacti
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsto Rule 405 of Regulation B{8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to submit and post such files).

Highwoods Properties, Inc.Yes[] No [ Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership Yes [J No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlezge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @-accelerated filer or a smaller report
company. See the definitions of ‘large accelerdiled,” ‘accelerated filer’ and ‘smaller reportingpmpany’ in Rule 12t2 of the Securitie
Exchange Act.

Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Large accelerated fildkl Accelerated fileld  Non-accelerated fileEl ~ Smaller reporting compary

Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership
Large accelerated fildcl ~ Accelerated fileld ~ Non-accelerated fileEXI ~ Smaller reporting comparfy

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the 88es Exchange Act).
Highwoods Properties, Inc.Yes[] No Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership Yes [J No

The Company had 63,814,615 shares of common stdskanding as of May 1, 2009.




HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2009

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART |- FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 200®acember 31, 2008

Consolidated Statements of Income for the threethnsoended March 31, 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statement of Equity for the three s®nded March 31, 2009

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the thmeeths ended March 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 200®acember 31, 2008

Consolidated Statements of Income for the threetnsoended March 31, 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statement of Equity for the three mem®nded March 31, 2009

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the timaeths ended March 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION:

Disclosure Regarding Forwatdoking Statements

Results of Operations

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Critical Accounting Estimates

Funds From Operations

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE

PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

N

[0 joo o I~

NN
NI

g o R DR RN NN
SR B RRBERBRWR

Ul
w




Table of Contents

PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We refer to Highwoods Properties, Inc. as the “Canyy’ Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership as ti@pérating Partnershipthe
Company’s common stock as “Common Stock,” the Camisapreferred stock as “Preferred Stock,” the @fing Partnershig commol
partnership interests as “Common Units,” the OpegaPartnership’s preferred partnership interests'Rreferred Units” and iservice
properties (excluding rental residential unitsiwoich the Company and/or the Operating Partnershige title and 100.0% ownership ri¢
as the “Wholly Owned PropertiesThe partnership agreement provides that the Opegra&artnership will assume and pay when du
reimburse the Company for payment of, all costsexpenses relating to the ownership and operatgns for the benefit of, the Operat
Partnership. The partnership agreement furtherigesvthat all expenses of the Company are deemée iacurred for the benefit of t
Operating Partnership.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited and in thousands, except share anchpee amounts)

March 31, December 31,
2009 2008
Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land $ 354,62¢ $ 352,87.
Buildings and tenant improvemer 2,831,00 2,819,84.
Development in proces 70,80¢ 61,93¢
Land held for development 98,94¢ 98,94¢
3,355,38: 3,333,60!
Less-accumulated depreciation (734,949 (714,22
Net real estate assets 2,620,441 2,619,37!
For-sale residential condominiums 21,42 24,28¢
Real estate and other assets, net, held fol 1,242 1,242
Cash and cash equivalel 7,751 13,757
Restricted cas 2,781 2,25¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,104 $b@81, respectivel 16,74¢ 23,681
Notes receivable, net of allowance of $400 and $#&Spectively 3,447 3,60z
Accrued straigt-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $2,2iid $2,082, respective 81,51 79,97¢
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 67,671 67,72%
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdatad amortization of $54,554 and $52,586, respeigt 71,607 73,21¢
Prepaid expenses and other assets 36,01¢ 37,04¢
Total Assets $ 2,930,65 $ 2,946,171
Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership and Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,619,271 $ 1,604,68!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitie® 121,28! 135,60
Financing obligations 34,50¢ 34,17¢
Total Liabilities 1,775,071 1,774,46
Commitments and contingenci
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr: 87,11¢ 111,27¢
Stockholders' Equity
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 awtbdrshares
8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable PreferredeStfiquidation preference $1,000 per share), 2B ghares
issued and outstanding at both March 31, 2009 awmBber 31, 200 29,092 29,09:
8.000% Series B Cumulative Redeemable PreferreceSifiquidation preference $25 per share), 2,10®ghares
issued and outstanding at both March 31, 2009 aswtmBber 31, 200 52,50( 52,50(
Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdshares
63,762,575 and 63,571,705 shares issued and oditsgigat March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, otispdy 63¢€ 63€
Additional paic-in capital 1,640,17. 1,616,09.
Distributions in excess of net earnir (655,43)) (639,28))
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,696 (4,797
Total Stockholders' Equity 1,062,27. 1,054,24
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliates 6,19( 6,17¢
Total Equity 1,068,46. 1,060,42.
Total Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in ti@perating Partnership and Equity $ 2,930,65/ $ 2,946,17!

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per share asjoun

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
Rental and other revenues $ 115,96t $ 113,42¢
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen 41,797 38,574
Depreciation and amortizatic 33,42 30,74¢
General and administrative 8,31¢ 9,711
Total operating expenses 83,53¢ 79,03%
Interest expense:
Contractua 20,57¢ 23,46:
Amortization of deferred financing cos 662 638
Financing obligations 73t 74C
21,97¢ 24,841
Other income:
Interest and other income 1,007 795
1,007 79t
Income before disposition of property and condominims and equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates 11,46 10,34¢
Net gains on disposition of propel 19 —
Gains on fo-sale residential condominiur 347 —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 1,30( 1,98¢
Income from continuing operations 13,127 12,33¢
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operatia — 67C
Net gains on sales of discontinued operations 73 3,72¢
73 4,39¢
Net income 13,20( 16,73¢
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intereistshe Operating Partnerst (694) (893
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intereistsonsolidated affiliate (18) (198
Dividends on preferred stock (1,677 (2,839
Net income available for common stockholders $ 10,81. $ 12,80¢
Earnings per common share - basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder $ 017 $ 0.1t
Income from discontinued operations available finmon stockholders — 0.07
Net income available for common stockholders $ 017 $ 0.22
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 63,637 57,217
Earnings per common share - diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder $ 017 $ 0.1t
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholders — 0.07
Net income available for common stockholders $ 017 $ 0.22
Weighted average common shares outstanding - dilute 67,70¢ 61,41¢
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.42F $ 0.42¢
Net income available for common stockholders:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder $ 10,74: $ 8,69¢
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders 69 4,10¢
Net income available for common stockholders $ 10,81: $ 12,80¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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Balance at
December 31, 200

Issuances of Common
Stock, ne

Dividends on Common
Stock

Dividends on Preferred
Stock

Adjustment to
noncontrolling
interests in the
Operating Partnersh

Distribution to
noncontrolling
interest in consolidated
affiliates

Issuances of restricted
stock, nei

Amortization of
restricted stock and
stock option:

Noncontrolling interest
in the Operating
Partnershig

Noncontrolling interest
in consolidated
affiliates

Comprehensive incom:
Net income
Other comprehensive

income

Total comprehensive
income

Balance at
March 31, 200¢

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY

Three Months Ended March 31, 2009
(Unaudited and in thousands, except share amounts)

Non-
Control-
Accum- ling
ulated Interests Distri-
Other in butions
Number of Additional Compre- Consol- in Excess
Common Common Series A Series B Paid-In hensive idated of Net
Shares Stock Preferred Preferred Capital Loss Affiliates Earnings Total
63,571,70 $ 63€ $ 29,09: $ 52,50( $ 1,616,09: $ (4,792 $ 6,17¢ $ (639,28) $ 1,060,42
(38,109 — — — (89%) — — — (89E)
— — — — — — — (26,96%) (26,96%)
_ _ _ — — — — (1,677) (1,677)
— — — — 23,13¢ — — — 23,13¢
— — — — — — ©) — ©)
228,97¢ — — — — — — — —
— 2 — — 1,84( — — — 1,84:
— — — — — — — (694) (699
— — — — — — 18 (18) —
— — — — — — — 13,20( 13,20(
— — — — — 94 — — 94
13,29
63,762,57 $ 63€ $ 29,09: $ 52,50( $ 1,640,17- $ (4,694 $ 6,19C $ (655,434 $  1,068,46.

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:

Depreciatior
Amortization of lease commissio
Amortization of lease incentive
Amortization of restricted stock and stock optit
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive
Net gains on disposition of properti
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiun
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Change in financing obligatior
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés
Changes in operating assets and liabilit

Accounts receivabl

Prepaid expenses and other as

Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritiiedil

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists
Proceeds from disposition of real estate as
Proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated atities
Net repayments of notes receiva
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat
Changes in restricted cash and other investingities
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Dividends on Common Stoc
Dividends on Preferred Stor
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in the @ating Partnershi
Distributions to noncontrolling interest in conslated affiliates
Net proceeds from the sale of Common St
Repurchase of Common Units from noncontrolling riesés
Borrowings on revolving credit facilit
Repayments of revolving credit facili
Borrowings on mortgages and notes pay:

Repayments of mortgages and notes pay
Additions to deferred financing costs

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equisi
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the gherio

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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Three Months Ended

March 31,

2009 2008
13,20 $ 16,73«
29,55¢ 27,35¢

3,86¢ 3,751
29¢ 222
1,84z 2,227
662 63€
(70) 80
(92 (3,726
(347 —
(1,300 (1,989
33t 22t
1,257 1,89¢
4,51¢ 2,73¢
161 (3,31¢)
(1,539 (2,409
(6,737 (23,625)
45,62 20,81«
(36,929 (55,537)
195 6,072
3,18( —
594 804
15¢E 2,19(
(500) (841)
(1,540 2,381
(34,839 (44,920
(26,96%) (24,307)
(1,677) (2,83¢)
1,719 (1,679
4 (25¢)
(895) (68€)
— (3,299
91,00( 203,20(
(57,000 (184,10()
36,55! 144,57¢
(55,969 (102,454
(111) (602)
(16,787) 27,56
(6,000 3,45¢
13,757 3,14(
7,751 $ 6,59¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOwS - Continued
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitaliga@ludes cash distributions to owners of sold probes accounted for as financings i
of $110 and $200 for 2009 and 2008, respectiv $ 24,698 $ 29,977

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

The following table summarizes the net asset aittpris and dispositions subject to mortgage notagaple and other nocast
transactions.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008

Assets:
Prepaid expenses and other assets $ (39 $ (562

$ (39 $ (561)
Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritiiedil $ (196) $ 40¢

$ (199 $ 40¢
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership and Equity $ 164 $ (970

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31, 2009
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)
(Unaudited)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc., together with its cdidsted subsidiaries (the "Company"), is a fullyeigrated, self-administered and self-
managed equity real estate investment trust ("REI&4t operates in the southeastern and midwekteited States. The Company condi
virtually all of its activities through HighwoodseRlty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Partngrgh As of March 31, 2009, the Compe
and/or the Operating Partnership wholly owned: Bit8ervice office, industrial and retail properties; f@ntal residential units; 580 acre:
undeveloped land suitable for future developmehtwbich 490 acres are considered core holdings; amdadditional eight office a
industrial properties under development and 66&de residential condominiums.

The Company is the sole general partner of the @iogr Partnership. As of March 31, 2009, the Companned all of the preferr
partnership interests (“Preferred Units”) and 63iflion, or 94.0%, of the common partnership ingtse(*Common Units”jn the Operatin
Partnership. Limited partners (including certairiogfrs and directors of the Company) own the reingirt.1 million Common Unit
Generally, the Operating Partnership is requireetieem each Common Unit at the request of theshaih@reof for cash equal to the valu
one share of the Company’s Common Stock, $.01 plaeVthe “Common Stock"hased on the average of the market price for thieatiing
days immediately preceding the notice date of swclemption, provided that the Company at its optiesgly elect to acquire any st
Common Units presented for redemption for cash ree share of Common Stock. The Common Units ownedhbyCompany are r
redeemable.

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preparednformity with accounting principles generatlgcepted in the United States
America (“GAAP”). As more fully described in Note 10, the ConsolidaBtatement of Income for the three months endectiMal, 200
was revised from previously reported amounts ttecefn discontinued operations the operationghHose properties sold during 2008 anc
first three months of 2009 which qualified for distinued operations presentation.

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted SFAS No. 1&0ncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finah@tatements -an amendment
ARB No. 51" (“SFAS No. 160"),which defines a noncontrolling interest in a coitaiked subsidiary as the portion of the equity
subsidiary not attributable, directly or indiregttp the parent and requires noncontrolling intsrés be presented as a separate compon
capital in the consolidated balance sheet subjecthe provisions of EITF D-98,Classification and Measurement of Redeerr
Securities” (“EITF D-98").SFAS No. 160 also modifies the presentation ofimeime by requiring earnings and other comprehenisisom:
to be attributable to controlling and noncontrdllimterests. SFAS No. 160 requires retroactivetimeat for all periods presented. Below
the steps we have taken as a result of the impletien of this standard with respect to previouslyorted amounts:

¢ We have reclassified the noncontrolling interestconsolidated affiliates from the mezzanine sectié our Consolidate
Balance Sheet to equity. This reclassificationléat&6.2 million as of December 31, 20!

o Net income attributable to noncontrolling interestsconsolidated affiliates and the Operating Rathip are no long
deducted when determining net income. As a reselt,income for the three months ended March 318 206reased $1
million from the previously reported amounts. Trdoption of this standard had no effect on our mebime available fi
common stockholders or our earnings per commores

8
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

e As prescribed by EITF @8, we adjusted noncontrolling interests in the i@peg Partnership so that the carrying value e
the greater of historical cost or redemption valnd continue to present it in the mezzanine sectimur Consolidated Balan
Sheets due to its redemption feature, as previalistjosed. As a result, noncontrolling intereatthie Operating Partnershig
of December 31, 2008 increased $45.6 million frbm previously reported amount, with a correspondiecrease to additior
paid in capital

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted FASB StaSitikm EITF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether Instrumerranted in SharBasel
Payment Transactions Are Participating Securit{es8SP EITF 03-6-1") As a result, our weighted average common sharestamating, bas
and diluted, for the three months ended March 8082were revised from previously reported amountsntiude our total number
restricted common shares outstanding. For the tma®ths ended March 31, 2008, weighted average @mshares outstanding, basic
diluted, are 487,343 and 365,274 shares higher gihewiously reported, respectively. Basic earnipgscommon share for the three mo
ended March 31, 2008 is $0.01 lower than previoteghprted. Diluted earnings per common share fettthee months ended March 31, 2
was unchanged from the amount previously reported.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include ther&ling Partnership, wholly owned subsidiaries node subsidiaries in which
own a majority voting interest with the ability ¢ontrol operations and where no substantive ppétiig rights or substantive kick out rig
have been granted to the noncontrolling interektdrs. All significant intercompany transactionslatcounts have been eliminated.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial staets and accompanying unaudited consolidated fiaaimformation, in the opinic
of management, contain all adjustments (includiogmal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair gmé&gtion of our financial position, rest
of operations and cash flows. We have omitted tertates and other information from the interim solidated financial statements prese
in this Quarterly Report on Form 1D-as permitted by SEC rules and regulations. Theseolidated financial statements should be re
conjunction with our 2008 Annual Report on FormKLO-

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesmé@nticcordance with GAAP requires us to make egémand assumptions that af
the amounts reported in the consolidated finarstetements and accompanying notes. Actual resuligl differ from those estimates.

Income Taxes

We have elected and expect to continue to quatifp &EIT under Sections 856 through 860 of thermaleRevenue Code of 1986,
amended. A corporate REIT is a legal entity thdt$ioeal estate assets and, through the paymativioends to stockholders, is gener
permitted to reduce or avoid the payment of fedaral state income taxes. To maintain qualificatisna REIT, we are required to |
dividends to our stockholders equal to at leasd®0of our annual REIT taxable income, excludingitedmains. As a REIT, we will not |
subject to federal and state income taxes if weriblige at least 100.0% of our taxable income (mady income and capital gains, if any
our stockholders. Under temporary IRS regulatiéms2009, distributions can be paid partially ussm&EIT's freely tradable stock so long
stockholders have the option of receiving at 14886 of the total distribution in cash.

Noncontrolling Interests

We adopted SFAS No. 160 on January 1, 2009, agibedcpreviously, which establishes accounting presentation standards
noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigrsh the accompanying Consolidated Financial $tetats relates to the ownershig
various individuals and entities other than the @any of Common Units in the Operating PartnersAgpof March 31, 2009, noncontrolli
interests in the Operating Partnership consistedpgfroximately 4.1 million Common Units. Net incora#iributable to noncontrollir
interests in the Operating Partnership is comphbyedpplying the weighted average percentage of Caminits not owned by the Comps
during the period (as a percent of the total nunatb@utstanding Common Units) to the Operating iaghips net income for the period ai
deducting distributions on Preferred Units. Whemoacontrolling unitholder redeems a Common Unitdmshare of Common Stock or c:
the noncontrolling interests in the Operating Ranthip is reduced and the Companghare in the Operating Partnership is increagdtie
fair value of each redeemed security. The followtadgje sets forth noncontrolling interests in thee@ting Partnership:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008

Beginning noncontrolling interests in the Operatitagtnership $ 11127¢ $ 119,19!
Adjustments to noncontrolling interests in the ypieig Partnershi (23,136 7,628
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest partnershijis — (3,297
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interdstthe Operating Partnerst 694 89¢
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in theédgating Partnership (1,719 (1,679
Total noncontrolling interests in the OperatingtRarship $ 87,11¢ $ 122,73¢

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliatedates to our respective joint venture partn&s0% interest in Highwoodstarkel
Associates, LLC (“Markel”) and estimated 19.5% emoic interest in Plaza Residential, LLC (“Plaza iBestial”). Each of our joint ventu
partners is an unrelated third party. We consatiddarkel since we are the general partner and tafédg control the major operating a
financial policies of the joint venture. We consgalie Plaza Residential since we own the majoriigrést in and effectively control the jc
venture. The following table sets forth noncontngjlinterests in consolidated affiliates:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
Beginning noncontrolling interests in consolidaséfiliates $ 6,17¢ $ 6,804
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interastsonsolidated affiliate 18 19¢
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in condated affiliates (4) (25€)
Total noncontrolling interests in consolidated laftes $ 6,19C $ 6,744

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositiBAS No. 107-1 and APB No. 28-1|nterim Disclosures about Fair Value
Financial Instruments” (“FSP FAS 107-1%hich requires disclosures of the fair value offinial instruments for interim reporting peri
and is effective for interim reporting periods ergliafter June 15, 2009. We plan to adopt FSP FAB116n July 1, 2009 and provi
disclosures about the fair value of financial instents for each reporting period subsequent totaop

10
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositieAS No. 115-2 and FAS No. 124-2, “Recognition amesBntation of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairments” (“FSP FAS 115-2"), which arde the other-thatemporary impairment guidance for debt securitedated to th
recognition, measurement and disclosure of othemntbmporary impairments and is effective for intenigporting periods ending af
June 15, 2009. We plan to adopt FSP FAS 25 July 1, 2009 and do not believe that it will/e a material impact on our financial posi
or results of operations subsequent to adoption.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositiBAS No. 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and LeveRofivity
for the Asset or Liability Have Significantly Deased and Indentifying Transactions That Are Notedlyd (“FSP FAS 157-4"),which
provides guidance on determining fair value whenketaactivity has decreased and is effective foéerim reporting periods ending al
June 15, 2009. We plan to adopt FSP FAS 4%nJuly 1, 2009 and do not believe that it will/e a material impact on our financial posi
or results of operations subsequent to adoption.

2. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

We have retained equity interests ranging from %2té 50.0% in various joint ventures with unrelateuld parties. We account for ¢
unconsolidated joint ventures using the equity metbf accounting. As a result, the assets andlitiabi of these joint ventures for which
use the equity method of accounting are not inaudeur Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The combined, summarized income statements fouoeonsolidated joint ventures were as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
Income Statements:
Revenues $ 38,86¢ $ 38,52¢
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 18,64( 18,43:
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,87z 7,45¢
Interest expense 8,97¢ 8,48
Total expenses 36,48 34,37¢
Net income $ 2,38 $ 4,150
Our share of:
Net income) $ 1300 $ 1,98¢
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets $ 325( $ 2,93¢
Interest expense $ 357t $ 3,52¢

(1) Our share of net income differs from our weightedrage ownership percentage in the joint ventunes’income due to our purch
accounting and other related adjustme
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

3. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Development

Development in process as of March 31, 2009 indutiece office properties aggregating 358,000 dataquare feet and 75 acre:
vacant land undergoing infrastructure improvementse aggregate cost, including leasing commissiohshe three buildings currently
expected to be $82.2 million when fully leased anthpleted, of which $62.2 million had been incureedof March 31, 2009. The dol
weighted average pre-leasing of these developnrejeqts was approximately 71% as of March 31, 2009.

We currently have four office properties and ondustrial property recently completed, but not yitbsized, aggregating 865,0
square feet. We consider the stabilization dateetcdhe earlier of the originally anticipated stedafion date or when 95% occupanc
achieved. The aggregate cost, including leasingnaigsions, of these properties currently is expetee $156.2 million when fully leas:
of which $139.5 million had been incurred as of &haB1, 2009. The dollar weighted average occupasicyhese properties w
approximately 67% as of March 31, 2009. The comptmef these properties are included in land, Ingidand tenant improvements :
deferred financing and leasing costs in our Codatdid Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2009.

For-Sale Residential Condominiums

In 2007, we and Dominion Partners, LLC formed Pl&asidential. We retained a majority interest ia jbint venture, which wi
formed to develop and sell 139 for-sale residemti@mdominiums constructed above an office toweetied by us in Raleigh, NC. Feale
residential condominiums in our Consolidated Batar8heets include our completed, but unsold, congiomi inventory as
March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008. For the timeeths ended March 31, 2009, we sold eight condioimis for net sales proceed:s
$3.2 million, and recorded gains of $0.3 milliorethsales proceeds include forfeitures of earnesteydeposits of $0.3 million for the th
months ended March 31, 2009. We recognize forfeitfrearnest money deposits into income when edttib claim the forfeited depc
upon legal default. Net income attributable to rarioolling interests in consolidated affiliates anr Consolidated Statement of Incc
includes our partnes’economic share of the net income of the jointwenof $(0.2) million for the three months endedrish 31, 2009. O
partners’ economic share of net income is negdtiieperiod since our estimate of our parteextonomic ownership decreased from 2!
as of December 31, 2008 to 19.5% as of March 30920here were no condominium sales or forfeitwfedeposits during the three mor
ended March 31, 2008.

4. DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS

As of March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, wedwddrred financing costs of $14.7 million, witha&ld accumulated amortizat
of $8.4 million and $7.8 million, respectively. A$ March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we haerdef leasing costs of $111.5 mill
and $111.1 million, respectively, with related awelated amortization of $46.2 million and $44.8 lioil, respectively. Aggrege
amortization expense (included in depreciation amdrtization and amortization of deferred financiagts) for these intangibles for the tt
months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008 was $4.5omidind $4.4 million, respectively.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense &br @ahe next five succeeding fiscal years iscdlews:

Remainder of 2009 subsequent to March 31, : $ 11,76:
2010 $ 12,93(
2011 $ 10,76¢
2012 $ 9,971
2013 $ 6,62«
2014 $ 4,33
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE

Our consolidated mortgages and notes payable tedsi$the following:

March 31, December 31,
2009 2008
Secured mortgage loans $ 665,74 $ 655,18t
Unsecured loans 953,52 949,49¢
Total $ 1,619,270 $ 1,604,68!

As of March 31, 2009, our secured mortgage loan® wecured by real estate assets with an aggregdépreciated book value of $
billion.

Our $450.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagiis scheduled to mature on May 1, 2010. Theregerate is LIBOR plus 80 ba
points and the annual base facility fee is 20 bpsists. The interest rate would increase to LIBQI& 140 or 155 basis points if our cri
rating were to fall below investment grade accagdio two of three major credit rating agencies. @wolving credit facility had $251
million of availability as of March 31, 2009 andch$250.7 million of availability as of May 1, 2009.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility ifgtially scheduled to mature on December 20, 2048suming no defaults ha
occurred, we have options to extend the maturitg f& two successive ongar periods. The interest rate is LIBOR plus 8&idpoints. Ot
secured construction facility had $39.1 millionasfilability as of March 31, 2009 and had $34.diarilof availability as of May 1, 2009.

In January 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 imillof 8.125% unsecured notes using borrowings uaderevolving credit facility.

In March 2009, we obtained a $20.0 million, thyear unsecured term loan with a bank lender. Ttezest rate is LIBOR plus 250 be
points, subject to a minimum total interest rat&.8bo.

Our revolving credit facility, variable rate termains and the indenture that governs the Operatingétships outstanding notes reqt
us to comply with customary operating covenants aadous financial and operating ratios. We and @peerating Partnership are e
currently in compliance with all such requirements.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During the three months ended March 31, 2009, waatgd under our Amended and Restated 1994 StodkrOpian (the Stock Optiol
Plan™) 394,044 stock options at an exercise price equtiled@losing market price of a share of our comistogk on the date of grant. The
value of each option grant is estimated on the daggant using the Black-Scholes option pricingd®lp which resulted in a weightederag
grant date fair value per share of $1.80. During three months ended March 31, 2009, we also @rah?8,384 shares of tintmse:
restricted stock and 99,910 shares of total relbased restricted stock with weightaderage grant date fair values per share of $18n8
$10.13, respectively. We recorded stdased compensation expense of $1.8 million and #$#lon during the three months enc
March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. As of Ma&8th2009, there was $12.2 million of total unredegd stockbased compensation co
which will be recognized over a weighted averageaiming contractual term of 1.7 years.

7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, werrowv funds at a combination of fixed and variabd¢es. Borrowings under ¢
revolving credit facility, construction facility anbank term loans bear interest at variable r&@es.longterm debt, which consists of sect
and unsecured lonigrm financings and the issuance of unsecured sihtrities, typically bears interest at fixed reathough some loa
bear interest at variable rates. Our interestniskemanagement objectives are to limit the impddnhterest rate changes on earnings and
flows and to lower our overall borrowing costs. dahieve these objectives, from time to time, weemito interest rate hedge contracts :
as collars, swaps, caps and treasury lock agreenreontder to mitigate our interest rate risk wiglspect to various debt instruments. W,
not hold or issue these derivative contracts faditrg or speculative purposes. The interest ratalloof our variable rate debt is gener
adjusted at one or three month intervals, subgaettlements under these interest rate hedgeactsitiWe also enter into treasury |
agreements from time to time in order to limit @xposure to an increase in interest rates witheesp future debt offerings.

In prior periods, we entered into certain intemegé hedging arrangements which were designatecasntieing accounted for as ¢
flow hedges. The effective portion of these arrangets, representing deferred interest expensed®&smillion as of March 31, 2009 anc
included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive LosOCL"). This deferred expense will be recognized as artiaddo interest expense
the same periods during which interest expensenerhédged financings affects net income. We expggtoximately $0.2 million will &
recognized as a decrease to interest expense \hthimext 12 months.

In January 2008, we entered into two floating-t@dl interest rate swaps for a oygar period with respect to an aggregate of
million of borrowings outstanding under our revolgicredit facility or other floating rate debt. Beeswaps fix the underlying LIBOR .
upon which interest on such borrowings is base®i26% for $30.0 million of borrowings and 3.24% &#0.0 million of borrowings. The
swaps were designated and accounted for as cagth@dges and matured in January 2009.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

7 . DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS - Continued

In April 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixéterest rate swap for a twaeear period with respect to an aggregate of $50lléomof
borrowings outstanding under our term loan or oftuating rate debt. The swap fixes the underih§OR rate upon which interest on si
borrowings is based at 2.52%. The counterparty withie swap is Bank of America, N.A. The swap wasignated and is being accountec
as a cash flow hedge. The effective portion ofsvap representing deferred interest expense w&sriilion as of March 31, 2009 anc
included in AOCL. We expect all of the balance ¢éorbcognized as an increase to interest expenklie next 12 months.

In October 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixeterest rate swap for a ogear period with respect to an aggregate of $25lbmr
of borrowings outstanding under our term loan ¢reoffloating rate debt. The swap fixes the undegyiLIBOR rate upon which interest
such borrowings is based at 2.35%. The counterpeutigr this swap is PNC Bank, N.A. The swap waggdased and is being accounted
as a cash flow hedge. The effective portion ofshvap representing deferred interest expense wasriillion as of March 31, 2009 anc
included in AOCL. We expect all of the balance ¢éorbcognized as an increase to interest expenklie next 12 months.

8. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) represents naime plus the changes in certain amounts defemecccumulated oth
comprehensive income/(loss) related to hedgingadingr activities not reflected in the Consolidagtdtements of Income. The componen
other comprehensive income/(loss) are as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008

Net income $ 13,20 $ 16,73¢
Other comprehensive income/(los

Unrealized loss on tax increment financing ba (39 (561)

Unrealized derivative gains/(losses) on «flow hedges 19¢ (409

Amortization of past cash flow hedges (70 80

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 94 (890)

Total comprehensive income $ 13,29 $ 15,84«
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inpthst we use to measure fair value, as well asafisets, mezzanine noncontrol
interests and liabilities that we recognize at Yailue using those levels of inputs.

Level 1.Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

Our Level 1 assets are comprised of investmenisarketable securities which we use to pay benefitler our deferred compensa
plan. Our Level 1 noncontrolling interests in thee@ating Partnership are comprised of Common Unitthe Operating Partnership
owned by the Company. Our Level 1 liabilities arg obligations to pay certain deferred compensagiam benefits whereby participa
have designated investment options (primarily mifwads) to serve as the basis for measuremefeofotional value of their accounts.

Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sschunted prices for similar assets or liabilitigapted prices in markets tl
are not active; or other inputs that are observablean be corroborated by observable market @atsubstantially the full term of the rela
assets or liabilities.

Our Level 2 liabilities are interest rate swaps sééair value is determined using a pricing modaeldal upon observable market inputs.
Level 3. Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlem@market activity and that are significant to the value of the assets
liabilities.

Our Level 3 asset is our tax increment financingddssued by a municipal authority in connectiothwiur construction of a pub
parking facility that is not routinely traded bubwese fair value is determined using an estimatgajected redemption value based on qu
bid/ask prices for similar unrated municipal bontleese available fosale securities are carried at estimated fair vadysrepaid and oth
assets with unrealized gains or losses reportetéamulated other comprehensive loss. The estinfatestalue as of March 31, 2009 v
$2.7 million below the outstanding principal duetha bonds. We have the ability and intent to hibisl bond until it recovers in value.

Our Level 3 liability is our SFHIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation th&not traded but whose fair value is determinedg
an estimate of discounted cash flows dependentitomef leasing assumptions for the property.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - Continued

The following tables set forth the assets and littds as of March 31, 2009 that we measured atfaiue on a recurring basis by le
within the fair value hierarchy.

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices in Significant
Balance at Active Markets Other Significant
March 31, for Identical Observable Unobservable
2009 Assets Inputs Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities (in prepaid and other
assets(1) $ 4,79¢ $ 479¢ $ — $ —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expenses
and other asset 17,43¢ — — 17,43¢
Total Assets $ 22,23 $ 4,79¢ $ — 3 17,43¢
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating
Partnership $ 87,11¢ $ 87,11¢ $ — $ —
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilitie $ 1,17¢ $ — % 1,17¢ $ —
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other liabiliti 5,36¢ 5,36¢ — —
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation 16,93¢ — — 16,93¢
Total Liabilities $ 23,48. % 5,36¢ $ 1,17¢ $ 16,93
(1) The marketable securities are held through ouceffileferred compensation plans.
Fair Value
Measurements
Using
Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)
Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond
Beginning balance as of December 31, 2 $ 17,46¢
Unrealized loss (in AOCL) (34)
Ending balance as of March 31, 2009 $ 17,43¢
Liability:
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP Financing Obligation
Beginning balance as of December 31, 2 $ 16,60+
Payments on financing obligatit (110
Interest expense on financing obligation 44C
Ending balance as of March 31, 2009 $ 16,93¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

10 . DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As part of our business strategy, we will from titoeime selectively dispose of n@aere properties in order to use the net proceet
investments, for repayment of debt and/or retirenoéfPreferred Stock, or other purposes. The thblew sets forth the net operating res
of those assets classified as discontinued opegtio our Consolidated Financial Statements. Thessets classified as discontin
operations comprise 0.7 million square feet ofoeffand industrial properties and 13 rental residenhits sold during 2008 and the th
months ended March 31, 2009. The operations okthssets have been reclassified from our ongoirgatipns to discontinued operatic
and we will not have any significant continuing @hvement in the operations after the disposal aetiens:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008

Rental and other revenues $ 2 $ 1,85¢
Operating expenses:

Rental property and other expen 2 83€

Depreciation and amortization — 361

Total operating expenses 2 1,19i

Other income — 9

Income before gains on sales of discontinued operais — 67C

Gains on sales of discontinued operations 73 3,72¢

Total discontinued operations $ 73 $ 4,39

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted FSP EITF-Q348hich required us to retroactively revise ouligh¢ed average common she
outstanding, basic and diluted, to include ourltotenber of restricted common shares outstanding.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE - Continued

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings per common share:

Earnings per common share - basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr:
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia
Dividends on preferred stock
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders

Income from discontinued operatia
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr$tom discontinued operations

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders
Net income available for common stockholders
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per common shareighted average shares
Earnings per common she- basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders
Net income available for common stockholders
Earnings per common share - diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia
Dividends on preferred stock
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders
Income from discontinued operations
Net income available for common stockholders

Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per common s— weighted average shar
Add:

Employee and director stock options and warr
Noncontrolling Common Units

Denominator for diluted earnings per common shaadjusted weighted average shares

and assumed conversic()
Earnings per common she- diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
13,127 $ 12,33¢
(690) (60€)
(18) (19¢)
(1,67) (2,839
10,74: 8,69¢
73 4,39¢
) (287)
69 4,10¢
10,81 $ 12,80¢
63,631 57,217
0.17 $ 0.1t
— 0.07
0.17 $ 0.2z
13,127 $ 12,33¢
(18) (19¢)
(1,67) (2,839
11,43: 9,302
73 4,39¢
11,50 $ 13,69¢
63,63! 57,21
7 232
4,067 3,967
67,70¢ 61,41¢
017 $ 0.1t
— 0.07
0.17 $ 0.2z

(1) Options and warrants aggregating 1.4 and 0.4 milibares were outstanding during the three momttieceMarch 31, 2009 and 20
respectively, but were not included in the treasugthod calculation for diluted earnings per comrsbare because the exercise pric

the options and warrants were higher than the geemsarket price of Common Stock during these per
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

12 . SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our principal business is the acquisition, develeptrand operation of rental real estate propefés evaluate our business by prot
type and by geographic locations. Each product hgmedifferent customers and economic characiesias to rental rates and terms, cos
square foot of buildings, the purposes for whiclstomers use the space, the degree of maintenanceustomer support required :
customer dependency on different economic driveersyng others. The operating results by geograpligping are also regularly review
by our chief operating decision maker for assesgérfprmance and other purposes. There are no ialdtger-segment transactions.

The accounting policies of the segments are theesasrthose described in Note 1 included hereinopdirations are within the Unit
States and, as of March 31, 2009, no tenant dithelly Owned Properties comprised more than 7.4%usfconsolidated revenues.

The following table summarizes the rental income aet operating income for each reportable segment:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
Rental and Other Revenues() (2) (3)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 11,50 $ 11,557
Greenville, SC 3,63¢ 3,26:
Kansas City, MC 3,74¢ 3,68¢
Memphis, TN 7,03¢ 6,13¢
Nashville, TN 15,40 14,773
Orlando, FL 2,951 2,407
Piedmont Triad, N( 6,54¢ 6,62¢
Raleigh, NC 18,35 18,527
Richmond, VA 11,71 11,59:¢
Tampa, FL 16,54¢ 15,83(
Total Office Segment 97,44( 94,39¢
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 3,941 4,087
Piedmont Triad, NC 4,377 3,70¢
Total Industrial Segment 8,31¢ 7,79¢
Retail:
Kansas City, MC 9,74: 10,79¢
Piedmont Triad, N( 143 14C
Raleigh, NC 30 _
Total Retail Segment 9,91¢ 10,93¢
Residential
Kansas City, MO 203 302
Total Residential Segment 293 308
Total Rental and Other Revenues $ 115,96¢ $ 113,42¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

12 . SEGMENT INFORMATION - Continued

Net Operating Income: (1) (2) (3)
Office:
Atlanta, GA
Greenville, SC
Kansas City, MC
Memphis, TN
Nashville, TN
Orlando, FL
Piedmont Triad, N(C
Raleigh, NC
Richmond, VA
Tampa, FL
Other
Total Office Segment

Industrial:
Atlanta, GA
Piedmont Triad, NC
Total Industrial Segment

Retail:
Atlanta, GA
Kansas City, MC
Piedmont Triad, N(C
Raleigh, NC
Total Retail Segment

Residential
Kansas City, MC
Raleigh, NC
Total Residential Segment
Total Net Operating Income
Reconciliation to income before disposition of proerty and condominiums and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates:
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrative expel
Interest expens
Interest and other income

Income before disposition of property and condoorms and equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliate

(1) Net of discontinued operatior
(2) The Piedmont Triad market encompasses the GreemabhdrWinsto-Salem metropolitan are
(3) The Raleigh market encompasses the Raleigh, Dur@Gany,and Research Triangle metropolitan &

21

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2009 2008

$ 697t $ 7,50¢
2,284 2,05C
2,244 2,13¢
4,017 3,52€
9,83¢ 9,922
1,571 1,427
4,16¢ 4,311
12,211 12,82¢
7,992 8,08¢
9,87t 9,502
@) (21)
61,17¢ _ 61,281

3,05¢ 3,18¢
3,55C 2,927
6,60€ 6,11C

(6) 5)
6,12C 7,194
110 114
2 (23)

6,22€ 7,28C

170 194
©) (1)
161 183

74,16¢ 74,854

(33,429 (30,749
(8,315  (9,711)
(21,97 (24,84
1,007 795

$ 11,461 $ 10,34¢
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited and in thousands, except unit and pianmounts)

March 31, December 31,
2009 2008
Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land $ 354,62¢ 352,87:
Buildings and tenant improvemer 2,831,00 2,819,84.
Development in proces 70,80¢ 61,93¢
Land held for development 98,94¢ 98,94¢
3,355,38 3,333,60!
Less-accumulated depreciation (734,944 (714,229
Net real estate assets 2,620,441 2,619,37
For-sale residential condominiums 21,42 24,28¢
Real estate and other assets, net, held fol 1,242 1,242
Cash and cash equivalel 7,732 13,64¢
Restricted cas 2,781 2,25¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,104 $b@81, respectivel 16,74¢ 23,681
Notes receivable, net of allowance of $400 and $#&Spectively 3,447 3,60z
Accrued straigt-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $2,2iid $2,082, respective 81,51 79,97¢
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 66,43¢ 66,517
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdatad amortization of $54,554 and $52,586, respeigt 71,601 73,21¢
Prepaid expenses and other assets 35,967 37,04¢
Total Assets $ 2,929,33 2,944,85
Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnership Unitsand Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,619,27: 1,604,68!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitie® 121,28: 135,60¢
Financing obligations 34,50¢ 34,17¢
Total Liabilities 1,775,06! 1,774,46!
Commitments and Contingenci
Redeemable Operating Partnership Ur
Common Units, 4,067,163 outstanding at both March2®09 and December 31, 2C 87,11¢ 111,27¢
Series A Preferred Units (liquidation preferenced$0 per unit), 29,092 shares issued and
outstanding at both March 31, 2009 and Decembe?2@03 29,09: 29,09:
Series B Preferred Units (liquidation preferenc $&r unit), 2,100,000 shares issued and
outstanding at both March 31, 2009 and Decembe2@083 52,50( 52,50(
Total Redeemable Operating Partnership Units 168,71: 192,87(
Equity:
Common Units
General partner Common Units, 674,209 and 672,8@dtanding at March 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, respectivi 9,837 9,75¢
Limited partner Common Units, 62,679,557 and 62,496 outstanding at March 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, respectivi 974,23 966,37¢
Accumulated other comprehensive i (4,69¢) (4,792)
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliates 6,19( 6,17¢
Total Equity 985,55¢ 977,52:
Total Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnerdbiits and Equity $ 2,929,33! 2,944,85!

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Interest expense:
Contractua

Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligations

Other income:
Interest and other income

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per unit anspunt

Income before disposition of property and condominims and equity in earnings of

unconsolidated affiliates
Net gains on disposition of propel

Gains on fa-sale residential condominiur

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operatio

Net gains on sales of discontinued operations

Net income

Net income attributable to noncontrolling intereisteonsolidated affiliate

Distributions on preferred units

Net income available for common unitholders

Earnings per common unit - basic:

Income from continuing operations available for coam unitholder:
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders

Weighted average common units outstanding - basic

Earnings per common unit - diluted:

Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:
Income from discontinued operations available fammon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders

Weighted average common units outstanding - diluted

Distributions declared per common unit

Net income available for common unitholders:

Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders

See accompanying notes to consolidated financassients.
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Three Months Ended
March 31,

2009 2008

115,96¢ $ 113,42¢

41,64 38,42
33,42 30,74¢
8,471 9,85¢
83,53¢ 79,03(
20,57¢ 23,46
662 638
73¢ 74C
21,97¢ 24,84
1,007 795
1,007 795
11,46 10,35:
19 —
347 —
1,26 1,97:
13,09( 12,32
— 67C
73 3,72¢
73 4,39¢
13,16 16,72
(19) (198
(1,679 (2,839
11,46¢ $ 13,68¢
017 $ 0.1€
— 0.07
017 $ 0.2:
67,28 60,77
017 $ 0.1¢
= 0.07
017 $ 0.2
67,29t 61,00
0.42t $ 0.42¢
11,39 $ 9,28¢
73 4,39¢
11,46¢ $ 13,68t
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Balance at December 31, 2008
Issuance of Common Units, r
Distributions on Common Uni
Distributions on Preferred Uni

Amortization of restricted stock and
stock options

Distribution to noncontrolling interest in
consolidated affiliate

Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to
fair value

Noncontrolling interests in consolidat
affiliates

Comprehensive incom:

Net income
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income
Balance at March 31, 2009

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY

Three Months Ended March 31, 2009
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Common Units

Accumulated Noncontrolling

Other Interests in
General Limited Comprehensive Consolidated Total
Partner Partner Loss Affiliates Capital
$ 9,75¢ $ 966,37( $ (4,792 $ 6,17¢ $ 977,52:
9) (88€) — — (895)
(285) (28,22) — — (28,509)
(17) (1,660 — — (1,677)
18 1,824 — — 1,84:
— — — @ @
24C 23,78 — — 24,02
— (18) — 18 —
131 13,03: — — 13,16:
_ — 94 - 94
13,257
$ 9837 $ 97423( $ (4,69 $ 6,19C $ 985,55¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciatior
Amortization of lease commissio
Amortization of lease incentive
Amortization of restricted stock and stock optit
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive
Net gains on disposition of properti
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiun
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Change in financing obligatior
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as

Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritiiedil

Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists
Proceeds from disposition of real estate as
Proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated atities
Net repayments of notes receiva
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat
Changes in restricted cash and other investingities
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Distributions on Common Unit
Distributions on Preferred Uni
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in cornidated affiliates
Net proceeds from the sale of Common U
Repurchase of Common Units from noncontrolling riesés
Borrowings on revolving credit facilit
Repayments of revolving credit facili
Borrowings on mortgages and notes payi

Repayments of mortgages and notes pay
Additions to deferred financing costs

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equisi
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the gherio

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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Three Months Ended

March 31,

2009 2008
13,16: $ 16,72
29,55¢ 27,35¢

3,86¢ 3,751
29¢ 222
1,84z 2,227
662 63€
(70) 80
(92 (3,726
(347 —
(1,269) (1,979
33t 22t
1,252 1,894
4,51¢ 2,73¢
20¢ (3,279)
(1,539 (2,409
(6,729 (23,58))
45,667 20,89¢
(36,929 (55,537)
195 6,072
3,18( —
594 804
15¢E 2,19(
(500) (841)
(1,540 2,381
(34,839 (44,920
(28,509) (25,809)
(1,677) (2,83¢)
@ (259)
(895) (68€)
— (3,297)
91,00( 203,20(
(57,000 (184,100)
36,55! 144,57¢
(55,969 (102,45%)
(247 (1,129
(16,749 27,20¢
(5,916 3,18:
13,64¢ 3,144
7,73: % 6,32¢
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOwS - Continued
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalizedludes cash distributions to owners of sold
properties accounted for as financings of $110%&aD for 2009 and 2008,
respectively’ $ 24,69° $ 29,97

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

The following table summarizes the net asset attipris and dispositions subject to mortgage notagaple and other nocast
transactions.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008

Assets:
Prepaid expenses and other assets $ (34 $ (560

$ (B9 $ (56
Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiedbil $ (196) $ 40¢

$ (199 $ 40¢
Redeemable Operating Partnership Units and Equity $ 164 $ (970

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31, 2009
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)
(Unaudited)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc., together with its cdidsted subsidiaries (the "Company"), is a fullyeigrated, self-administered and self-
managed equity real estate investment trust ("REI&4t operates in the southeastern and midwekteited States. The Company condi
virtually all of its activities through HighwoodseRlty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Partngrgh As of March 31, 2009, the Compe
and/or the Operating Partnership wholly owned: Bit8ervice office, industrial and retail properties; f@ntal residential units; 580 acre:
undeveloped land suitable for future developmehtwbich 490 acres are considered core holdings; amdadditional eight office a
industrial properties under development and 66&de residential condominiums.

The Company is the sole general partner of the @iogr Partnership. As of March 31, 2009, the Companned all of the preferr
partnership interests (“Preferred Units”) and 63iflion, or 94.0%, of the common partnership ingtse(*Common Units”jn the Operatin
Partnership. Limited partners (including certairiogfrs and directors of the Company) own the reingirt.1 million Common Unit
Generally, the Operating Partnership is requireetieem each Common Unit at the request of theshaih@reof for cash equal to the valu
one share of the Company’s Common Stock, $.01 plaeVthe “Common Stock"hased on the average of the market price for thieatiing
days immediately preceding the notice date of swclemption, provided that the Company at its optiesgly elect to acquire any st
Common Units presented for redemption for cash ree share of Common Stock. The Common Units ownedhbyCompany are r
redeemable.

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preparednformity with accounting principles generatlgcepted in the United States
America (“GAAP”). As more fully described in Note 10, the ConsolidaBtatement of Income for the three months endectiMal, 200
was revised from previously reported amounts ttecefn discontinued operations the operationghHose properties sold during 2008 anc
first three months of 2009 which qualified for distinued operations presentation.

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted SFAS No. 1&0ncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finah@tatements -an amendment
ARB No. 51" (“SFAS No. 160"),which defines a noncontrolling interest in a coitaiked subsidiary as the portion of the equity
subsidiary not attributable, directly or indiregttp the parent and requires noncontrolling intsrés be presented as a separate compon
capital in the consolidated balance sheet subjecthe provisions of EITF D-98,Classification and Measurement of Redeerr
Securities” (“EITF D-98").SFAS No. 160 also modifies the presentation ofimeime by requiring earnings and other comprehenisisom:
to be attributable to controlling and noncontrdllimterests. SFAS No. 160 requires retroactivetimeat for all periods presented. Below
the steps we have taken as a result of the impletien of this standard with respect to previouslyorted amounts:

¢ We have reclassified the noncontrolling interestconsolidated affiliates from the mezzanine sectié our Consolidate
Balance Sheet to equity. This reclassificationléat&6.2 million as of December 31, 20!
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

e Net income attributable to noncontrolling interestsconsolidated affiliates is no longer includedthe determination of r
income. As a result, net income for the three meetided March 31, 2008 increased $0.2 million ftbenpreviously reporte
amounts. The adoption of this standard had no teffemur net income available for common unithadder our earnings p
common unit

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted FASB StaSitikm EITF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether Instrumer®ranted in SharBasel
Payment Transactions Are Participating Securit{e8SP EITF 03-6-1").As a result, our weighted average common unitstadéng, basi
and diluted, for the three months ended March 8082were revised from previously reported amountsntiude our total number
restricted common shares outstanding. For the thmeeths ended March 31, 2008, weighted average aymmits outstanding, basic ¢
diluted, are 487,343 and 365,274 shares higher phaviously reported, respectively. Basic earnipgs common unit for the three mor
ended March 31, 2008 was unchanged from the anpmeniously reported. Diluted earnings per commoit for the three months end
March 31, 2008 is $0.01 lower than previously régar

The Consolidated Financial Statements include wholined subsidiaries and those subsidiaries in wiaie own a majority votir
interest with the ability to control operations amtere no substantive participating rights or satiste kick out rights have been grante
the noncontrolling interest holders. All significantercompany transactions and accounts have él@amated.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial staets and accompanying unaudited consolidated fiaaimformation, in the opinic
of management, contain all adjustments (includiogmal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair gmé&gtion of our financial position, rest
of operations and cash flows. We have omitted tertates and other information from the interim solidated financial statements prese
in this Quarterly Report on Form ID-as permitted by SEC rules and regulations. Thessolidated financial statements should be re
conjunction with our 2008 Annual Report on FormKLO-

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesmé@nticcordance with GAAP requires us to make egémand assumptions that af
the amounts reported in the consolidated finarstetements and accompanying notes. Actual resuligl differ from those estimates.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected and expects to contingadalify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86theflnternal Revenue Code
1986, as amended. A corporate REIT is a legalyetitat holds real estate assets and, through thmerat of dividends to stockholders
generally permitted to reduce or avoid the paynodrfederal and state income taxes at the corpdeate. To maintain qualification as
REIT, the Company is required to pay dividendstsostockholders equal to at least 90.0% of its ahREIT taxable income, excludi
capital gains. Under temporary IRS regulations,Z009, distributions can be paid partially usinRBIT’s freely tradable stock so long
stockholders have the option of receiving at ldd% of the total distribution in cash. The parth@sagreement requires the Opera
Partnership to pay economically equivalent distidns on outstanding Common Units at the same thmethe Company pays dividends
its outstanding Common Stock.

Noncontrolling Interests

We adopted SFAS No. 160 on January 1, 2009, agibedcpreviously, which establishes accounting presentation standards
noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliatedates to our respective joint venture partn&&0% interest in Highwoodstarkel
Associates, LLC (“Markel”) and estimated 19.5% emwit interest in Plaza Residential, LLC (“Plaza idestial”). Each of our joint ventu
partners is an unrelated third party. We consadiddarkel since we are the general partner and tefédg control the major operating a
financial policies of the joint venture. We consllie Plaza Residential since we own the majoriigrést in and effectively control the jc
venture. The following table sets forth noncontngjlinterests in consolidated affiliates:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
Beginning noncontrolling interests in consolidasdfiliates $ 6,17¢ $ 6,80¢
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interastsonsolidated affiliate 18 19¢
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in condated affiliates (4) (25€)
Total noncontrolling interests in consolidated l&tfes $ 6,19C $ 6,744

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositiBAS No. 107-1 and APB No. 28-1|nterim Disclosures about Fair Value
Financial Instruments” (“FSP FAS 107-1%hich requires disclosures of the fair value offinial instruments for interim reporting peri
and is effective for interim reporting periods engliafter June 15, 2009. We plan to adopt FSP FAB116n July 1, 2009 and provi
disclosures about the fair value of financial instents for each reporting period subsequent totaop

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositieAS No. 115-2 and FAS No. 124-2, “Recognition amesBntation of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairments” (“FSP FAS 115-2"), which arde the other-thatemporary impairment guidance for debt securitedated to th
recognition, measurement and disclosure of othemtbmporary impairments and is effective for intenigporting periods ending af
June 15, 2009. We plan to adopt FSP FAS 25 July 1, 2009 and do not believe that it will’e a material impact on our financial posi
or results of operations subsequent to adoption.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositiBAS No. 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and LeveRofivity
for the Asset or Liability Have Significantly Deased and Indentifying Transactions That Are Notedlyd (“FSP FAS 157-4"),which
provides guidance on determining fair value whenkeiaactivity has decreased and is effective foerim reporting periods ending al
June 15, 2009. We plan to adopt FSP FAS 4% July 1, 2009 and do not believe that it will’e a material impact on our financial posi
or results of operations subsequent to adoption.

2 . INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

We have retained equity interests ranging from @2t8 50.0% in various joint ventures with unrelateld parties. We account for ¢
unconsolidated joint ventures using the equity metbf accounting. As a result, the assets andlitiabi of these joint ventures for which
use the equity method of accounting are not inaudeur Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

2. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES - Continue d

Our combined, summarized income statements founconsolidated joint ventures were as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
Income Statements:
Revenues $ 37,491 $ 37,28«
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 18,10( 17,84:
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,45¢ 7,062
Interest expense 8,762 8,25¢
Total expenses 35,31¢ 33,15¢
Net income $ 2170 $ 4,12
Our share of:
Net income) $ 1262 $ 1,97¢
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets $ 320¢ $ 2,897
Interest expense $ 3551 $ 3,500

(1) Our share of net income differs from our weightedrage ownership percentage in the joint ventunes’income due to our purch
accounting and other related adjustme

3. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Development

Development in process as of March 31, 2009 indutiece office properties aggregating 358,000 kdataquare feet and 75 acre:
vacant land undergoing infrastructure improvement®e aggregate cost, including leasing commissiohshe three buildings currently
expected to be $82.2 million when fully leased anthpleted, of which $62.2 million had been incureedof March 31, 2009. The dol
weighted average pre-leasing of these developnrejeqts was approximately 71% as of March 31, 2009.

We currently have four office properties and ondustrial property recently completed, but not vieibized, aggregating 865,0
square feet. We consider the stabilization dateetcdhe earlier of the originally anticipated stedafion date or when 95% occupanc
achieved. The aggregate cost, including leasingnaigsions, of these properties currently is expetee $156.2 million when fully leas:
of which $139.5 million had been incurred as of tkaB1, 2009. The dollar weighted average occupamityhese properties w
approximately 67% as of March 31, 2009. The comptmef these properties are included in land, Ingidand tenant improvements :
deferred financing and leasing costs in our Codatdid Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2009.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

3. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES - Continued

For-Sale Residential Condominiums

In 2007, we and Dominion Partners, LLC formed Pl&asidential. We retained a majority interest ia jbint venture, which wi
formed to develop and sell 139 for-sale residemti@mdominiums constructed above an office toweetied by us in Raleigh, NC. Feale
residential condominiums in our Consolidated Baar8heets include our completed, but unsold, congiomi inventory as
March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008. For the timerths ended March 31, 2009, we sold eight condioimis for net sales proceed:s
$3.2 million, and recorded gains of $0.3 milliorethsales proceeds include forfeitures of earnesteydeposits of $0.3 million for the th
months ended March 31, 2009. We recognize forfeitfrearnest money deposits into income when edttib claim the forfeited depc
upon legal default. Net income attributable to rarioolling interests in consolidated affiliates anr Consolidated Statement of Incc
includes our partnes’economic share of the net income of the jointwenof $(0.2) million for the three months endedrivh 31, 2009. O
partners’ economic share of net income is negdtiieperiod since our estimate of our parteextonomic ownership decreased from 2!
as of December 31, 2008 to 19.5% as of March 30920here were no condominium sales or forfeitwfedeposits during the three mor
ended March 31, 2008.

4 . DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS

As of March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, wedwddrred financing costs of $14.7 million, withaild accumulated amortizat
of $8.4 million and $7.8 million, respectively. A$¢ March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we haerdef leasing costs of $111.5 mill
and $111.1 million, respectively, with related awelated amortization of $46.2 million and $44.8 lioil, respectively. Aggrege
amortization expense (included in depreciation anbrtization and amortization of loan costs) foesth intangibles for the three mor
ended March 31, 2009 and 2008 was $4.5 million$&hd million, respectively.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense &br @ahe next five succeeding fiscal years iscdlews:

Remainder of 2009 subsequent to March 31, : $ 11,761
2010 $ 12,93(
2011 $ 10,76¢
2012 $ 9,971
2013 $ 6,62
2014 $ 4,33
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE

Our consolidated mortgages and notes payable tedsi$the following:

March 31, December 31,

2009 2008
Secured mortgage loans $ 665,747 $ 655,18¢€
Unsecured loans 953,52¢ 949,49¢
Total $ 1,619,271 $ 1,604,68!

As of March 31, 2009, our secured mortgage loan® wecured by real estate assets with an aggregdépreciated book value of $
billion.

Our $450.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagiis scheduled to mature on May 1, 2010. Theregerate is LIBOR plus 80 ba
points and the annual base facility fee is 20 bpsists. The interest rate would increase to LIBQI& 140 or 155 basis points if our cri
rating were to fall below investment grade accagdio two of three major credit rating agencies. @wolving credit facility had $251
million of availability as of March 31, 2009 andch$250.7 million of availability as of May 1, 2009.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility ifgtially scheduled to mature on December 20, 2048suming no defaults ha
occurred, we have options to extend the maturitg f& two successive ongar periods. The interest rate is LIBOR plus 8&idpoints. Ot
secured construction facility had $39.1 millionasfilability as of March 31, 2009 and had $34.diarilof availability as of May 1, 2009.

In January 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 imillof 8.125% unsecured notes using borrowings uaderevolving credit facility.

In March 2009, we obtained a $20.0 million, thyear unsecured term loan with a bank lender. Ttezest rate is LIBOR plus 250 be
points, subject to a minimum total interest rat&.8bo.

Our revolving credit facility, variable rate terraains and the indenture that governs our outstanuings require us to comply w
customary operating covenants and various finareidloperating ratios. We and the Company are eachntly in compliance with all su
requirements.

6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During the three months ended March 31, 2009, tbmgany granted under its Amended and Restated $8@k Option Plan (tt
“Stock Option Plan"394,044 stock options at an exercise price equidlealosing market price of a share of our comstock on the date
grant. The fair value of each option grant is eatad on the date of grant using the Bl&woles option pricing model, which resulted
weightedaverage grant date fair value per share of $1.80inD the three months ended March 31, 2009, thegamy also granted 128,<
shares of time-based restricted stock and 99,9afestof total return-based restricted stock withgivwedaverage grant date fair values
share of $19.33 and $10.13, respectively. The Comnpacorded stockased compensation expense of $1.8 million and ®#ln during
the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 200Bectsely. As of March 31, 2009, there was $12.8iom of total unrecognized stock-
based compensation costs, which will be recognized a weighted average remaining contractual terin7 years.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

7 . DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, werfoav funds at a combination of fixed and variabédées. Borrowings under ¢
revolving credit facility, construction facility anbank term loans bear interest at variable r&@es.longterm debt, which consists of sect
and unsecured lonigrm financings and the issuance of unsecured sihutrities, typically bears interest at fixed reathough some loa
bear interest at variable rates. Our interestriaskemanagement objectives are to limit the impddnhterest rate changes on earnings and
flows and to lower our overall borrowing costs. dahieve these objectives, from time to time, weemito interest rate hedge contracts :
as collars, swaps, caps and treasury lock agreenreontder to mitigate our interest rate risk wiglspect to various debt instruments. W,
not hold or issue these derivative contracts faditrg or speculative purposes. The interest ratalloof our variable rate debt is gener
adjusted at one or three month intervals, subgaettiements under these interest rate hedgeactmtiWe also enter into treasury |
agreements from time to time in order to limit @xposure to an increase in interest rates witheggp future debt offerings.

In prior periods, we entered into certain interasé hedging arrangements which were designatecg@nbeing accounting for as c
flow hedges. The effective portion of these arrangets, representing deferred interest expense$@@smillion as of March 31, 2009 anc
included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive LosOCL"). This deferred expense will be recognized as artiaddo interest expense
the same periods during which interest expensenerhédged financings affects net income. We expggtoximately $0.2 million will k
recognized as a decrease to interest expense hthimext 12 months.

In January 2008, we entered into two floating-t@dl interest rate swaps for a oygar period with respect to an aggregate of
million of borrowings outstanding under our revalgicredit facility or other floating rate debt. Heeswaps fix the underlying LIBOR .
upon which interest on such borrowings is base2l26% for $30.0 million of borrowings and 3.24% &20.0 million of borrowings. The
swaps were designated and accounted for as cagthédges and matured in January 2009.

In April 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fix@terest rate swap for a twaeear period with respect to an aggregate of $50lléomof
borrowings outstanding under our term loan or oftuating rate debt. The swap fixes the underih§OR rate upon which interest on si
borrowings is based at 2.52%. The counterparty wthie swap is Bank of America, N.A. The swap wasignated and is being accountec
as a cash flow hedge. The effective portion ofsvap representing deferred interest expense w&sriilion as of March 31, 2009 anc
included in AOCL. We expect the majority of thedrade to be recognized as an increase to interpsheg within the next 12 months.

In October 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixeterest rate swap for a ogear period with respect to an aggregate of $25lbmr
of borrowings outstanding under our term loan ¢reoffloating rate debt. The swap fixes the undegyiLIBOR rate upon which interest
such borrowings is based at 2.35%. The counterpeutigr this swap is PNC Bank, N.A. The swap waggdased and is being accounted
as a cash flow hedge. The effective portion ofshvap representing deferred interest expense wasriillion as of March 31, 2009 anc
included in AOCL. We expect all of the balance ¢orbcognized as an increase to interest expenkilie next 12 months.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

8. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) represents naime plus the changes in certain amounts defemecccumulated oth
comprehensive income/(loss) related to hedgingadinelr activities not reflected in the ConsolidaBtdtements of Income. The componen
other comprehensive income/(loss) are as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008

Net income $ 13,16 $ 16,72:
Other comprehensive income/(los

Unrealized loss on tax increment financing ba (39 (561)

Unrealized derivative gains/(losses) on «flow hedges 19¢ (409

Amortization of past cash flow hedges (70) 80

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 94 (890)

Total comprehensive income $ 13,257 $ 15,83

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inptiitat we use to measure fair value, as well asagsets and liabilities that
recognize at fair value using those levels of isput

Level 1.Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

Our Level 1 assets are comprised of investmenisarketable securities which we use to pay benefitler our deferred compensa
plan. Our Level 1 liabilities are our obligations pay certain deferred compensation plan benefiter@by participants have design:
investment options (primarily mutual funds) to seas the basis for measurement of the notionakwafitheir accounts.

Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sschuated prices for similar assets or liabilitiqapted prices in markets tl
are not active; or other inputs that are observablean be corroborated by observable market @atsubstantially the full term of the rela
assets or liabilities.

Our Level 2 liabilities are interest rate swaps sééair value is determined using a pricing modaeldal upon observable market inputs.
Level 3. Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlem@market activity and that are significant to the value of the assets
liabilities.

Our Level 3 asset is our tax increment financingddssued by a municipal authority in connectiothwiur construction of a pub
parking facility that is not routinely traded bubese fair value is determined using an estimatgajected redemption value based on qu
bid/ask prices for similar unrated municipal bontleese available fosale securities are carried at estimated fair vadysarepaid and oth
assets with unrealized gains or losses reportetéamulated other comprehensive loss. The estinfatestalue as of March 31, 2009 v
$2.7 million below the outstanding principal duetha bonds. We have the ability and intent to hibisl bond until it recovers in value.

Our Level 3 liability is our SFHIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation th&not traded but whose fair value is determinedg
an estimate of discounted cash flows dependentitomef leasing assumptions for the property.
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9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - Continued

The following tables set forth the assets and littds as of March 31, 2009 that we measured atfaiue on a recurring basis by le
within the fair value hierarchy.

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices in Significant
Balance at Active Markets Other Significant
March 31, for Identical Observable Unobservable
2009 Assets Inputs Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities (in prepaid and other
assets(1) $ 4,79¢ $ 4,79¢ $ — $ —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expenses
and other asset 17,43¢ — — 17,43¢
Total Assets $ 22,23 $ 4,79¢ $ — 3 17,43¢
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilitie $ 1,17¢ $ — $ 1,17¢ $ —
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other liabiliti 5,36¢ 5,36¢ — —
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation 16,93¢ — — 16,93¢
Total Liabilities $ 23,48. $ 536¢ $ 1,17¢ $ 16,93¢
(1) The marketable securities are held through ouceffileferred compensation plans.
Fair Value
Measurements
Using
Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)
Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond
Beginning balance as of December 31, 2 $ 17,46¢
Unrealized loss (in AOCL) (34)
Ending balance as of March 31, 2009 $ 17,43¢
Liability:
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP Financing Obligation
Beginning balance as of December 31, 2 $ 16,60¢
Payments on financing obligatit (110)
Interest expense on financing obligation 44C
Ending balance as of March 31, 2009 $ 16,93¢
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

10 . DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As part of our business strategy, we will from titoeime selectively dispose of n@oere properties in order to use the net proceet
investments, for repayment of debt and/or retiranoéfPreferred Units, or other purposes. The talelew sets forth the net operating res
of those assets classified as discontinued opegtio our Consolidated Financial Statements. Thessets classified as discontin
operations comprise 0.7 million square feet ofoeffand industrial properties and 13 rental residenhits sold during 2008 and the th
months ended March 31, 2009. The operations okthssets have been reclassified from our ongoirgatipns to discontinued operatic
and we will not have any significant continuing @hvement in the operations after the disposal aetiens:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008

Rental and other revenues $ 2 $ 1,85¢
Operating expenses:

Rental property and other expen 2 83€

Depreciation and amortization — 361

Total operating expenses 2 1,19i

Other income — 9

Income before gains on sales of discontinued operais — 67C

Gains on sales of discontinued operations 73 3,72¢

Total discontinued operations $ 73 $ 4,39

11. EARNINGS PER UNIT

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted FSP EITF-Q3+hich required us to retroactively revise ourighéed average common ur
outstanding, basic and diluted, to include ourltotenber of restricted shares outstanding.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

11 . EARNINGS PER UNIT - Continued

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings per unit:

Earnings per common unit:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia
Distributions on preferred units
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders
Income from discontinued operations
Net income available for common unitholders
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per common unit ighted average units
Earnings per common ur- basic:

Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders

Earnings per common unit - diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia
Distributions on preferred units
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders
Income from discontinued operations
Net income available for common unitholders

Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per common — weighted average uni

Add:
Employee and director stock options and warrants

Denominator for diluted earnings per common uratiusted weighted average units

and assumed conversic()
Earnings per common ur- diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders

Three Months Ended

March 31,

2009

2008

$ 13,09 $ 12,32t
(18) (19€)
(1,67) (2,839
11,39 9,28¢
73 4,39¢

$ 11,46¢ $ 13,68t
67,28¢ 60,77

$ 017 $ 0.1¢
— 0.07

$ 017 $ 0.2¢
$ 13,00 $ 12,32t
(18) (19€)
(1,67) (2,839
11,39 9,28¢
73 4,39

$ 1146¢ $ 13,68t
67,28¢ 60,77

7 232

67,29¢ 61,007
$ 017 $ 0.1F
— 0.07

$ 017 $ 0.27

(1) Options and warrants aggregating 1.4 and 0.4 milibares were outstanding during the three momttieceMarch 31, 2009 and 20
respectively, but were not included in the treasugthod calculation for diluted earnings per commait because the exercise price

the options and warrants were higher than the geemsarket price of Common Unit during these peri
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

12 . SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our principal business is the acquisition, develeptrand operation of rental real estate propefés evaluate our business by prot
type and by geographic locations. Each product hgmedifferent customers and economic characiesias to rental rates and terms, cos
square foot of buildings, the purposes for whiclstomers use the space, the degree of maintenanceustomer support required :
customer dependency on different economic driveersyng others. The operating results by geograpligping are also regularly review
by our chief operating decision maker for assesgérfprmance and other purposes. There are no ialdtger-segment transactions.

The accounting policies of the segments are theesasrthose described in Note 1 included hereinopdirations are within the Unit
States and, as of March 31, 2009, no tenant dithelly Owned Properties comprised more than 7.4%usfconsolidated revenues.

The following table summarizes the rental income aet operating income for each reportable segment:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008
Rental and Other Revenues() (2) (3)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 11,503 $ 11,557
Greenville, SC 3,639 3,262
Kansas City, MC 3,748 3,684
Memphis, TN 7,034 6,134
Nashville, TN 15,407 14,777
Orlando, FL 2,951 2,407
Piedmont Triad, N(C 6,545 6,624
Raleigh, NC 18,354 18,527
Richmond, VA 11,714 11,593
Tampa, FL 16,545 15,830
Total Office Segment 97,440 94,395
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 3,941 4,087
Piedmont Triad, NC 4,377 3,708
Total Industrial Segment 8,318 7,795
Retail:
Kansas City, MC 9,742 10,795
Piedmont Triad, N(C 143 140
Raleigh, NC 30 _
Total Retail Segment 9,915 10,935
Residential
Kansas City, MO 203 303
Total Residential Segment 203 303
Total Rental and Other Revenues $ 115,96t $ 113,42¢
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

12 . SEGMENT INFORMATION - Continued

Net Operating Income: (1) (2) (3)
Office:
Atlanta, GA
Greenville, SC
Kansas City, MC
Memphis, TN
Nashville, TN
Orlando, FL
Piedmont Triad, N(C
Raleigh, NC
Richmond, VA
Tampa, FL
Other
Total Office Segment

Industrial:

Atlanta, GA
Piedmont Triad, NC

Total Industrial Segment

Retail:
Atlanta, GA
Kansas City, MC
Piedmont Triad, N(C
Raleigh, NC
Total Retail Segment
Residential

Kansas City, MC
Raleigh, NC
Total Residential Segment
Total Net Operating Income
Reconciliation to income before disposition of proerty and condominiums and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates:
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrative expel
Interest expens
Interest and other income

Income before disposition of property and condoorms and equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliate

(1) Net of discontinued operatior
(2) The Piedmont Triad market encompasses the GreemabhdrWinsto-Salem metropolitan are
(3) The Raleigh market encompasses the Raleigh, Dur@Gany,and Research Triangle metropolitan &
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Three Months Ended
March 31,

2009 2008

$ 699C $ 7,524
2,28¢ 2,054
2,24¢ 2,142
4,02¢ 3,534
9,85¢ 9,94z
1,57¢ 1,43C
4,177 4,32C

12,237 12,85¢
8,01C 8,104
9,89¢ 9,52C

@) (21)
61,302 _ 61,40

3,064 3,18¢
3,557 2,93¢
6,621 6,122

(6) 5)
6,132 7,20¢
110 114
2 (23)

6,23¢ 7,294

171 195
©) (1)
162 184

74,32¢ 75,004

(33,429 (30,749
(8,471) (9,85
(21,97 (24,84
1,007 795

$ 11,461 $ 10,352
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is a fully integrated, self-administeeand selfmanaged equity REIT that provides leasing, managgndevelopmen
construction and other custometated services for our properties and for thiadtips. The Company conducts virtually all of itgities
through the Operating Partnership and is its seleetnl partner. As of March 31, 2009, we ownedaat &n interest in 382 iservice office
industrial and retail properties, encompassing @xprately 35.4 million square feet, which includeght in-service office and industri
development properties that had not yet reached Stilized occupancy aggregating 1.2 million squieet and a 12.5% interest i
261,000 square foot office property directly owrgdthe Company (included in the Compangonsolidated Financial Statements, bu
included in the Operating Partnership’s Consolida&mancial Statements), 66 feale condominiums and 514 rental residential usts.ar¢
based in Raleigh, North Carolina, and our proper@d development land are located in Florida, @apriowa, Kansas, Marylar
Mississippi, Missouri, North Carolina, South Canalj Tennessee and Virginia. Additional informatidiout us can be found on our websi
www.highwoods.com Information on our website is not part of thisa@erly Report.

You should read the following discussion and arialys conjunction with the accompanying Consolidaténancial Statements ¢
related notes contained elsewhere in this Quarkelyort.

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Some of the information in this Quarterly Reportymeontain forwardeoking statements. Such statements include, iticpdar,
statements about our plans, strategies and praspader this section and under the heading "Busih&®u can identify forwardeoking
statements by our use of forward-looking terminglegich as "may,” "will,” "expect,” "anticipate,” 8&imate,” ‘tontinue" or other simili
words. Although we believe that our plans, intemsicand expectations reflected in or suggested bl sarwardiooking statements &
reasonable, we cannot assure you that our platentions or expectations will be achieved. Whensatering such forwartboking

statements, you should keep in mind the followingpértant factors that could cause our actual redwaltdiffer materially from tho:
contained in any forward-looking statement:

« the financial condition of our tenants could deieate;
e We may not be able to lease or release secondajeEmespace quickly or on as favorable terms adeaiges;
e We may not be able to lease our newly constructidldibgs as quickly or on a favorable terms asioglly anticipated;

e We may not be able to complete development, ad@urisireinvestment, disposition or joint venturejpcts as quickly or on
favorable terms as anticipate

« development activity by our competitors in our &rig markets could result in an excessive supplgffie, industrial and ret:
properties relative to tenant dema

e our southeastern and midwestern markets may sigfdines in economic growth;

o difficulties in obtaining additional capital to &fy our future cash needs or increases in inteegss could adversely impact
ability to fund important business initiatives aindrease our debt service cot

e We may not be able to meet our liquidity requiretaar obtain capital on favorable terms to fund working capital needs a
growth initiatives or to repay or refinance outstiaug debt upon maturity

« in light of the current dislocations in the creditirkets, one or more of our banking partners csufter unexpected financ
difficulties that cause them to default on theiligdtions under our existin
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revolving credit facility and/or revolving constitian facility, which would make it difficult for uto meet our short- and long-
term liquidity needs; and

« the Company could lose key executive officers.

This list of risks and uncertainties, however, @ imtended to be exhaustive. You should also wevie other cautionary statements
make in “Business — Risk Factors” set forth in 8008 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Given these uncertainties, you should not placaieréliance on forwartboking statements. We undertake no obligation ubliply
release the results of any revisions to these fahemking statements to reflect any future eventsimumstances or to reflect the occurre
of unanticipated events.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results for the first three months of 2008 werdassified from previously reported amounts to rEfle discontinued operations -
operations for those properties sold during 20G8thg first three months of 2009 which qualified discontinued operations presentation
the retroactive adoption of SFAS No. 160 and FSH-HI3-6-1.

Rental and Other Revenues

While we own and operate a limited number of indaktretail and residential properties, our op@aggitresults depend heavily
successfully leasing and operating our office prigge Economic growth in Florida, Georgia, Nortlar@ina and Tennessee is and
continue to be an important determinative factgoriedicting our future operating results.

The key components affecting our rental and otbgemues are average occupancy, rental rates, neslogeents placed in servi
acquisitions and dispositions. Average occupanaegily increases during times of improving ecorogrowth, as our ability to lease sp
outpaces vacancies that occur upon the expiratibegisting leases. Average occupancy generalljirdecduring times of slower econor
growth, when new vacancies tend to outpace ouityalil lease space. Asset acquisitions, dispositamd new developments placed in se
directly impact our rental revenues and could impmag average occupancy, depending upon the occypate of the properties that
acquired, sold or placed in service. A further @ador of the predictability of future revenuestis expected lease expirations of our portf
As a result, in addition to seeking to increase axgrage occupancy by leasing current vacant speea@lso must concentrate our lea
efforts on renewing leases on expiring space. Famermformation regarding our lease expirations, ‘froperties — Lease Expirations.”

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatiware 2.2% higher in the first three months of 286 compared to the first th
months of 2008 primarily due to the contributioarfr development properties placed in service in 28@8the first three months of 2009,
acquisition of the PennMarc building in Memphis, TNDecember 2008 and higher average rental rafésgt by lower lease terminati
fees, lower straight-line rental income and lowezupancy.

Operating Expenses

Our expenses primarily consist of rental propentpemses, depreciation and amortization, general aahmlinistrative expenses ¢
interest expense. Rental property expenses arenggp@ssociated with our ownership and operatioargél properties and include expetr
that vary somewhat proportionately to occupancglevsuch as common area maintenance and utilities expenses that do not vary bi
on occupancy, such as property taxes and insur@sgeciation and amortization is a noesh expense associated with the ownership ¢
property and generally remains relatively consiséaith year, unless we buy, place in service brasskts, since we depreciate our prope
and related building and tenant improvement assets straightine basis over a fixed life. General and admiaiste expenses, net
amounts capitalized, consist primarily of managenam employee salaries and other personnel costpprate overhead and loberr
incentive compensation.

Rental property and other expenses were approxXyn@td% higher in the first three months of 2009casnpared to the first thr
months of 2008 primarily due to general inflationarcreases in certain operating
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expenses, which include utility costs and realtedtaxes and from expenses of development propgrtéeed in service in 2008 and the
three months of 2009.

Operating margin, defined as rental and other reesress rental property and other expenses exgressa percentage of rental
other revenues, declined to 64.0% in the firstahmeonths of 2009 as compared to 66.0% in the tiinge months of 2008 as a resul
proportionally higher rental property and other &xges as discussed above.

Depreciation and amortization was approximatehp@higher in the first three months of 2009 as camgbdo the first three months
2008 primarily due to development properties placeskervice in 2008 and the first three months@I2

General and administrative expenses were approaiynaé.4% lower in the first three months of 20@9campared to the first thi
months of 2008 primarily due to lower audit andalefges, lower incentive compensation and lowearged and fringe benefit costs.

I nterest Expense

Interest expense depends upon the amount of ounviogs, the weighted average interest rates ordebt and the amount of inter
capitalized on development projects.

Contractual interest expense is shown net of ansowatpitalized to development projects. Contractinrest expense w
approximately 12.3% lower in the first three montti2009 as compared to the first three months0882due primarily to lower avera
borrowings as a result of our sale of common sincReptember 2008 and lower weighted average siteates on outstanding debt, pe
offset by lower capitalized interest in 2009 conguhto 2008 due to decreased development activitlylawer average construction ¢
development costs.

Discontinued Operations

The Company classified income of $0.1 million add4$million as discontinued operations in the fttsee months of 2009 and the 1
three months of 2008, respectively. These amowtdserto 0.7 million square feet of office and iatlial properties and 13 rental residel
units sold during 2008 and the first three month80®9, and include net gains on the sale of tipesperties of $0.1 million and $3.7 milli
in the first three months of 2009 and the firsethmonths of 2008, respectively.
Dividends on Preferred Equity

Dividends on preferred equity were approximatelyo4® lower in the first three months of 2009 as caregd to the first three months
2008 due to the retirement of $53.8 million of preéd equity in September 2008.

43




Table of Contents

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview

We generally use rents received from customerand bur operating expenses, recurring capital edipgnes and distributions. To fu
property acquisitions, development activity or Hing renovations and repay debt upon maturity, veg sell assets and/or obtain new ¢
Our debt generally consists of mortgage debt, unselcdebt securities and borrowings under our secand unsecured credit facilities.
also may sell or issue common or preferred eqoitjuhd additional growth or to reduce our debt.gemerate additional capital to fund
growth and other strategic initiatives and to lestsee ownership risks typically associated with awgnl00.0% of a property, we may also
or contribute some of our properties to joint veasu

Our goal is to maintain a conservative and flexiddance sheet. Our $450.0 million unsecured réngleredit facility is scheduled
mature on May 1, 2010. We have sufficient borrowdrgilability under our revolving credit facilitp tretire the approximate $118 million
debt, as measured as of May 1, 2009, that will reafincluding approximately $5.1 million of requirgrincipal amortization paymei
relating to debt that matures in future years)muthe remainder of 2009 and fund the remainingscofsour current development pipeline
January 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 millimhn8.125% unsecured notes using borrowings underevolving credit facility. Becau
the cost and availability of credit, however, hagib and may continue to be adversely affectedlioyidl credit markets and wider cre
spreads, we expect to use less cash for investiingts in the remainder of 2009 than in prioay® Based on managementiew of currer
and future market conditions, we expect to genesapsitive amount of cash from operating actisitiiring the remainder of 2009. '
currently intend to use any such positive net cletvs from operating activities after payment oftdibutions and recurring capi
expenditures, together with the proceeds from ptegk noneore property dispositions and projected new dédntings, to redur
outstanding debt balances in the remainder of 2008se forward-looking statements are subjectsksrand uncertainties. See Bisclosure
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Statements of Cash Flows

As required by GAAP, we report and analyze our déshs based on operating activities, investingwitiés and financing activitie
The following table sets forth the changes in tlen@any’s cash flows ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2009 2008 Change
Cash Provided By Operating Activities $ 4562. $ 20,81« $ 24,80
Cash Used In Investing Activitie (34,839 (44,920 10,08:
Cash (Used In)/Provided by Financing Activities (16,787) 27,56 (44,349
Total Cash Flows $ (6,000 $ 3458 $ (9.45%

In calculating cash flow from operating activitiefgpreciation and amortization, which are mash expenses, are added back t
income. As a result, we have historically generagubsitive amount of cash from operating actisitierom period to period, cash flow fr
operations depends primarily upon changes in otirineme, as discussed more fully above under “Resif Operations,’changes i
receivables and payables, and net additions ordses in our overall portfolio, which affect thecamt of depreciation and amortizat
expense.

Cash provided by or used in investing activitiemegally relates to capitalized costs incurred feasing and major buildil
improvements and our acquisition, development, adigjpn and joint venture activity. During periods significant net acquisition and.
development activity, our cash used in such inagséctivities will generally exceed cash providsditivesting activities, which typical
consists of cash received upon the sale of pragseaind distributions of capital from our joint wenes.

Cash used in financing activities generally relatesdistributions, incurrence and repayment of dabtl sales, repurchases
redemptions of Common Stock, Common Units and PedeStock. As discussed previously, we use afitgmit amount of our cash to fu
distributions. Whether or not we have increasdhénoutstanding balances of debt during a peripedgs generally upon the net effect of
acquisition, disposition, development and jointtuea activity. We use our revolving credit facilfiyr working capital purposes, which me
that
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during any given period, in order to minimize imstr expense, we will likely record significant rgpeents and borrowings under
revolving credit facility.

The increase of $24.8 million in cash provided pgmting activities of the Company in the firstearmonths of 2009 compared to
first three months of 2008 was primarily the resiilthe net increase in the change in operatingtassd liabilities as well as cash flows fi
net income as adjusted for changes in depreciadioth amortization, gains on disposition of propsrtiand equity in earnings
unconsolidated affiliates.

The decrease of $10.1 million in cash used in itivgsactivities in the first three months of 2008@wpared to the first three months
2008 was primarily the result of lower capital emgitures and higher proceeds from the dispositmmn®r-sale residential condominiur
partially offset by lower proceeds from dispositiohreal estate assets, lower repayments in netsvable, and changes in restricted
and other investing activities.

The decrease of $44.3 million in cash used in owriged by financing activities in the first threeonths of 2009 compared to the {
three months of 2008 was primarily the result efdo net borrowings from mortgages and notes payadieour revolving credit facility a
higher distributions resulting from an increasethe number of shares of Common Stock outstandiog four sale of common stock
September 2008, partly offset by lower distribusiam preferred equity and lower repurchases of comeguity.

Capitalization

The following table sets forth the Company'’s cdjzidion (in thousands, except per share amounts):

March 31, December 31,
2009 2008

Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book value $ 1,619,271 $ 1,604,68!
Financing obligation $ 3450¢ $ 34,172
Preferred Stock, at liquidation val $ 81,59 $ 81,592
Common Stock outstandir 63,768 63,572
Noncontrolling interest partnership un 4,067 4,067
Per share stock price at peri $ 2142 $ 27.3€
Market value of Common Stock and Common Units $ 1,452,91¢ $ 1,850,60:
Total market capitalization with debt and obligaso $ 3,188,291 $ 3,571,05

Based on our total market capitalization of apprately $3.2 billion as of March 31, 2009 (at therba31, 2009 per share stock p
of $21.42 and assuming the redemption for share€asfimon Stock of the approximate 4.1 million Commidmits not owned by tt
Company), our mortgages and notes payable repezs80t8% of our total market capitalization.

Mortgages and notes payable as of March 31, 2089cemprised of $665.7 million of secured indebtedneith a weighted avere
interest rate of 6.34% and $953.5 million of unsedundebtedness with a weighted average inteaéstaf 4.77%. As of March 31, 2009,
outstanding mortgages and notes payable and fingratiligations were secured by real estate ass#isaw aggregate undepreciated k
value of approximately $1.1 billion.
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Current and Future Cash Needs

Rental and other revenues are our principal soafdeinds to meet our shoteérm liquidity requirements. Other sources of furiok
shortterm liquidity needs include available working dapiand borrowings under our revolving credit fagiland revolving constructic
credit facility (which had $250.7 million and $34t6illion of availability, respectively, as of May 2009). Our shorterm liquidity
requirements primarily consist of operating expensaterest and principal amortization on our delistributions, any payments un
guarantee obligations and recurring capital exgenel, including building improvement costs, tenamprovement costs and lei
commissions. Building improvements are recurringited costs not related to a specific customer twntain existing buildings. Recurri
tenant improvements are the costs required to rustospace for the specific needs of customerpates other than in new developn
projects.

Notwithstanding the ongoing turbulence and uncetyain the global capital markets, such as widerinedit spreads and tighten
underwriting standards which have negatively impddhe availability of capital across many indestyiwe anticipate that our available ¢
and cash equivalents and cash flows from operatitigities, with cash available from borrowings endur credit facilities, will be adequ
to meet our shorierm liquidity requirements. We have sufficient tmaving availability under our revolving credit féty to retire the
approximate $118 million of debt, as measured ddaf 1, 2009, that will mature (including approxirely $5.1 million of required princip
amortization payments relating to debt that matindsiture years) during the remainder of 2009 amdtl the remaining costs of our curt
development pipeline. If these sources of fundsiraefficient or unavailable, our ability to paystlibutions and satisfy other cash paym
may be adversely affected.

Our longterm liquidity uses generally consist of the retiemt or refinancing of debt upon maturity (incluglimortgage debt, o
revolving and construction credit facilities, tetaans and other unsecured debt), funding of exjséind new building development or i
infrastructure projects and funding acquisitionsbofidings and development land. Excluding recyrriapital expenditures for leasing ci
and tenant improvements and for normal buildingrompments, our expected future capital expendittoestarted and/or committed n
development projects were approximately $36.7 arillas of March 31, 2009. A significant portion bése future expenditures are curre
subject to binding contractual arrangements. Addélly, we may from time to time retire some ordllour remaining outstanding Prefer
Stock and/or unsecured debt securities throughmptiens, open market repurchases, privately negotiacquisitions or otherwise.

We expect to meet our liquidity needs through alzioation of:

e positive net cash flows from operating activitié@apayment of distributions and recurring capigpenditures;
e unsecured borrowings under our existing revolvireglit facility or new financing arrangements tha may obtain;

e Secured borrowings under existing construction lifees or new financing arrangements that we mayaiob (as ¢
March 31, 2009, we had approximately $2.3 billiduoencumbered real estate assets at undepreciztc

o the disposition of non-core assets;
o the issuance by the Operating Partnership of umsdalebt securities;
o the issuance of equity securities by the Compauytla@ Operating Partnership; and

o the sale or contribution of some of our Wholly Owrferoperties, development projects and developtaedtto strategic joil
ventures to be formed with unrelated investors,ctvhivould have the net effect of generating addéiarapital through suu
sale or contributions
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Financing Structure and Activity
In January 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 imillof 8.125% unsecured notes using borrowings uaderevolving credit facility.

In March 2009, we obtained a $20.0 million, thgear unsecured term loan with a bank lender. Tdas bears interest at LIBOR p
250 basis points, subject to a minimum total irgerate of 3.9%.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility, ialin bears interest at LIBOR plus 85 basis poirgspitially scheduled to mature
December 20, 2010. Assuming no defaults have oeduwe have options to extend the maturity datéworsuccessive ongear periods. A
of March 31, 2009, $30.9 million of borrowings wenatstanding under the construction facility.

Our $450.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagils scheduled to mature on May 1, 2010. We ddpg@mour revolving credit facili
for working capital purposes and for the sherm funding of our development and acquisitionvéigtand, in certain instances, the repayn
of other debt upon maturity. Continuing ability b@rrow under the revolving credit facility allows wo quickly capitalize on accret|
opportunities at shoterm interest rates. If our lenders default untieirtobligations under the revolving credit fagilidr we become unat
to borrow additional funds under the facility fanyareason, we would be required to sell additiassets or seek alternative equity or
capital, which could be more costly and adverselgact our financial condition. If such alternatoagital were unavailable, we would not
able to make new investments and could have difficepaying other debt.

The interest rate under our revolving credit fagils LIBOR plus 80 basis points and the annuaklasility fee is 20 basis points. 1
interest rate would increase to LIBOR plus 140 %% basis points if our credit rating were to fadldw investment grade according to twi
three credit rating agencies. As of March 31, 2@197.0 million of borrowings were outstanding under revolving credit facility.

We have $1.3 million of outstanding letters of éredt of March 31, 2009, which reduces the avditstidn our revolving credit facility
As a result, the unused capacity of our revolviregit facility as of March 31, 2009 was $251.7 raiil

We regularly evaluate the financial condition oé flenders that participate in our credit facilitiesing publicly available informatic
particularly in light of the current dislocations the credit markets. Based on this review, weenuly expect our lenders, which are m
financial institutions, to perform their obligati®minder our existing facilities.

Covenant Compliance

The Operating Partnership has $400 million prinicgraount of 2017 bonds outstanding and $200 milfoimcipal amount of 20
bonds outstanding. The indenture that governs thatstanding notes requires us to comply with qusty operating covenants and vari
financial ratios, including a requirement that waintain unencumbered assets of at least 200% oftdtanding unsecured debt. The trL
or the holders of at least 25% in principal amooieither series of bonds can accelerate the pah@mount of such series upon wri
notice of a default that remains uncured after &gsd

Our revolving credit facility and our bank term taalso require us to comply with customary opegatiovenants and various finan
requirements, including a requirement that we na&ind ratio of total liabilities to total asset walof no more than 60%. For purposes o
revolving credit facility, total asset value depsngon the effective economic capitalization ratiéef deducting capital expenditures) use
determine the value of our buildings. Dependingrugeneral economic conditions, the lenders havegtie faith right to unilateral
increase the capitalization rate by up to 25 basimts once each calendar year. Any such incremseapitalization rates, without
corresponding reduction in total liabilities, coufthke it more difficult for us to maintain a ratd total liabilities to total asset value of
more than 60%, which could have an adverse efiectur ability to borrow additional funds under tleeolving credit facility. Upon an eve
of default, lenders having at least 66.7% of th&ltcommitments under the revolving credit facilitgn accelerate all borrowings tl
outstanding and prohibit us
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from borrowing any further amounts under our reir@\credit facility, which would adversely affeatoability to fund our operations.

We are currently in compliance with all such cow@saand requirements. Although we expect to renrainompliance with the:
covenants and ratios through the end of 2009, dkperupon our future operating performance, prgparid financing transactions
general economic conditions, we cannot assurelyatute will continue to be in compliance.

We may not be able to repay, refinance or exterydoarall of our debt at maturity or upon any accadien. If any refinancing is done
higher interest rates, the increased interest esgpenuld adversely affect our cash flow and abtlitypay dividends. Any such refinanc
could also impose tighter financial ratios and otmvenants that restrict our ability to take atsidhat could otherwise be in our best inte
such as funding new development activity, makingasfunistic acquisitions, repurchasing our seasitir paying dividends.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have several off balance sheet joint ventureqaradantee arrangements. The joint ventures weneefb with unrelated investors
generate additional capital to fund property adtjaiss, repay outstanding debt, fund other stratégitiatives and lessen the risks typic
associated with owning 100% of a property. Whencveate a joint venture with a partner, we usuadigtabute cash or wholly owned as:
to a newly formed entity in which we retain a nomicolling interest. For financial reporting purpsseertain assets we sold have |
accounted for as financing arrangements.

As discussed in Note 1 to our Consolidated Findratements, we generally account for our investmén less than majority own
joint ventures, partnerships and limited liabillgmpanies under the equity method of accountinga Assult, the assets and liabilities of tt
joint ventures are not included in our balance slaa the results of operations of these joint wesg are not included in our inco
statement, other than as equity in earnings of nsmaated affiliates. Generally, we are not liatdethe debts of our joint ventures, excey
the extent of our equity investment, unless we rdirextly guaranteed any of that debt. In most sase and/or our joint venture partners
required to agree to customary limited exceptionsan-recourse liability in non-recourse loans.

As of March 31, 2009, our unconsolidated joint wees had $829.6 million of total assets and $646ilion of total liabilities a
reflected in their financial statements. As of MaB1, 2009, our weighted average equity interestetbaon the total assets of tr
unconsolidated joint ventures was 36.8%. During ttiree months ended March 31, 2009, these uncadiasedl joint ventures earned ¢
million of total net income, of which our sharetesfappropriate purchase accounting and other tagrgs, was $1.3 million.

As of March 31, 2009, our unconsolidated joint vees had $612.8 million of outstanding mortgaget.déb of this joint venture debt
non+ecourse to us except (1) in the case of customergptions pertaining to such matters as misugenals, environmental conditions ¢
material misrepresentations and (2) those guararaad loans described in Note 14 to the Consolid&irancial Statements in our 2(
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, werfoav funds at a combination of fixed and variabédes. Borrowings under ¢
revolving credit facility, construction facility @nbank term loans bear interest at variable r&@es.longterm debt, which consists of sect
and unsecured longrm financings and the issuance of unsecured skhirities, typically bears interest at fixed reathough some loa
bear interest at variable rates. Our interestriaskemanagement objectives are to limit the impddnhterest rate changes on earnings and
flows and to lower our overall borrowing costs. dachieve these objectives, from time to time, we matgr into interest rate hedge contr
such as collars, swaps, caps and treasury locleagnes in order to mitigate our interest rate wik respect to various debt instruments.
do not hold or issue these derivative contractdréading or speculative purposes. The interestaatall of our variable rate debt is adjuste
one and three month intervals, subject to settlésnemder these interest rate hedge contracts. ¥desater into treasury lock agreements |
time to time in order to limit our exposure to agrease in interest rates with respect to futub# déerings.
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In prior periods, we entered into certain intemegé hedging arrangements which were designatecasntieing accounted for as ¢
flow hedges. The effective portion of these arrangets, representing deferred interest expense$®&smillion as of March 31, 2009 anc
included in AOCL. This deferred expense will beagaized as an addition to interest expense in #meesperiods during which inter
expense on the hedged financings affects net incakee expect approximately $0.2 million will be rgoized as a decrease to inte
expense within the next 12 months.

In January 2008, we entered into two floating-t@dl interest rate swaps for a oygmr period with respect to an aggregate of §
million of borrowings outstanding under our revolgicredit facility or other floating rate debt. Beeswaps fixed the underlying LIBOR t
upon which interest on such borrowings was bas&28% for $30.0 million of borrowings and 3.24% $20.0 million of borrowings. The
swaps were designated and accounted for as casthédges and matured in January 2009.

In April 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fix@tterest rate swap for a twaar period with respect to an aggregate of $50lmof
borrowings outstanding under our term loan or offuating rate debt. The swap fixes the underlyihBOR rate upon which interest on si
borrowings is based at 2.52%. The counterparty i swap is Bank of America, N.A. The swap wasignated and is being accountec
as a cash flow hedge. The effective portion ofshvap representing deferred interest expense wasriillion as of March 31, 2009 anc
included in AOCL. We expect all of the balance ¢orbcognized as an increase to interest expenkmlie next 12 months.

In October 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixeterest rate swap for a ogear period with respect to an aggregate of $25l®mn
of borrowings outstanding under our term loan dreotfloating rate debt. The swap fixes the undegyiIBOR rate upon which interest
such borrowings is based at 2.35%. The counterpanter this swap is PNC Bank, N.A. The swap wagdesed and is being accounted
as a cash flow hedge. The effective portion ofsvap representing deferred interest expense wasriilion as of March 31, 2009 anc
included in AOCL. We expect all of the balance ¢orbcognized as an increase to interest expenkmlie next 12 months.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

There were no changes to the critical accountifgipe made by management in the three months eltdedh 31, 2009, except as
forth in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Stegats under “Basis of PresentatioRdr a description of our critical accounting esties
see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firsr@ondition and Results of Operations - Critidalcounting Estimatesinh our 200t
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

The Company believes that FFO and FFO per commare sire beneficial to management and investorsaemdnportant indicators
the performance of any equity REIT. Because FFO BR® per common share calculations exclude suctorfa@s depreciation a
amortization of real estate assets and gains sesoom sales of operating real estate assetslfwhin vary among owners of identical as
in similar conditions based on historical cost acting and useful life estimates), they facilita@mparisons of operating performa
between periods and between other REITs. Manageediates that historical cost accounting for esthte assets in accordance with G,
implicitly assumes that the value of real estagesdiminishes predictably over time. Since retdte values have historically risen or fa
with market conditions, many industry investors amdlysts have considered the presentation of tipgreesults for real estate compal
that use historical cost accounting to be insudfitiby themselves. As a result, management beliba¢she use of FFO and FFO per com
share, together with the required GAAP presentatipnovide a more complete understanding of the fiamyi's performance relative to
competitors and a more informed and appropriatés lmaswhich to make decisions involving operatifigancing and investing activities.

FFO and FFO per common share as disclosed by BfaErs may not be comparable to the Compareglculation of FFO and FFO |
common share as described below. However, you dhlmubware that FFO and FFO per common share ar&AAP financial measures a
therefore do not represent net income or net incpeneshare as defined by GAAP. Net income andnoetme per share as defined by G/
are the most relevant measures in determining th@p@nys operating performance because FFO and FFO pemononshare incluc
adjustments that investors may deem subjectivéy asi@dding back expenses such as depreciation and
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amortization. Furthermore, FFO per common share do¢ depict the amount that accrues directly sostiockholdersbenefit. Accordingly
FFO and FFO per common share should never be @resdicas alternatives to net income or net inconteshare as indicators of 1
Company’s operating performance.

The Companys calculation of FFO, which it believes is consisteith the calculation of FFO as defined by thaidlzal Association ¢
Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT@hd which appropriately excludes the cost of chpitarovements and related capitalized inte
is as follows:

e Netincome (loss) computed in accordance with GA

e Less dividends to holders of Preferred Stock;

e Less netincome attributable to noncontrolling iegts;

e Plus depreciation and amortization of assets uhjcgignificant to the real estate industry;

e Less gains, or plus losses, from sales of depriecigierating properties (but excluding impairmersises) and excluding ite
that are classified as extraordinary items undeAB¢

e Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated peships and joint ventures (to reflect funds fromexgtions on the sar
basis); anc

e Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation and @imation and gains/(losses) on sales related wdiinued operations.

Further, in calculating FFO, the Company adds haekincome attributable to noncontrolling intereistehe Operating Partnerst
which the Company believes is consistent with stathdhdustry practice for REITs that operate thitoag UPREIT structure. The Compi
believes that it is important to present FFO omsoonverted basis since all of the Common Units nated by the Company are redeem
on a one-for-one basis for shares of its CommonkSto

Other REITs may not define FFO in accordance with ¢urrent NAREIT definition or may interpret therent NAREIT definitiol
differently than we do.
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The Company’s FFO and FFO per common share are atig@d in the following table ($ in thousands, etqeer share amounts):

Funds from operations:
Net income

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interastshe Operating Partnerst
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interastsonsolidated affiliate

Dividends on preferred stock

Net income available for common stockhold

Add/(Deduct):

Depreciation and amortization of real estate a:
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable proper
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr:

Unconsolidated affiliates

Depreciation and amortization of real estate a:

Discontinued operation:

Depreciation and amortization of real estate a:
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable properties

Funds from operations

Weighted average shares outstanding).(2)

(1) Includes assumed conversion of all potentiallytditiCommon Stock equivalen

(2) Weighted average shares outstanding as of Marct2®18 have been revised from
number of restricted shares in accordance with EISF 02-6-1.
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Three Months Ended March 31,

2009 2008
Per Per
Amount Share Amount Share
$ 13,20( $ 16,73¢
(694) (899
(18) (19€)

(1,673) (2,839
10,81:$ 0.17 12,80:$ 0.2

32,98 0.4€ 30,190  0.4¢
19 — - =
694  — 898  —

3,25( 0.0¢ 2,93¢ 0.0t
— — 361 0.01

(73— (3,726 (0.0¢)
$ 47,64:$ 0.7C$ 43,45¢($ 0.71

67,70¢ 61,41¢

previously reporteduats to include our tot
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES AB OUT MARKET RISK

For information about our market risk as of Decenfe 2008, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disares About Market Riskih out
2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

SEC rules require us to maintain disclosure costaold procedures that are designed to ensurenfoatiation required to be disclos
in our annual and periodic reports filed with tHeCSis recorded, processed, summarized and repaitkih the time periods specified in
SEC'’s rules and forms. As defined in Rule 13de) under the Exchange Act, disclosure controts @ocedures include, without limitati
controls and procedures designed to ensure thatniaftion required to be disclosed by us is accutadland communicated to managerr
including the Company’s CEO and CFO, to allow tiyndécisions regarding required disclosure. The Gomjs CEO and CFO believe tl
our disclosure controls and procedures were effecti the end of the period covered by this Quigrieeport.

SEC rules also require us to establish and mainta@rnal control ovefinancial reporting designed to provide reasonasguranc
regarding the reliability of financial reporting cathe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with gene
accepting accounting principles. As defined in RLBa15(f) under the Exchange Act, internal control offieancial reporting includes thc
policies and procedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records that in re@isle detail accurately and fairly reflect our sactions and dispositions of assets;

e provide reasonable assurance that transactionseeneded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiaa statements in accordal
with generally accepting accounting principles, ahdt receipts and expenditures are being made wnlgccordance wi
authorizations of management and directors;

e provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized acquisition, osealisposition of our assets t
could have a material effect on the consolidatedrfcial statement

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting during the first three montl2609 that materially affected, or .
reasonably likely to materially affect, our intercantrol over financial reporting.
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PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Number Description
31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act
31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act
31.3 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act
31.4 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act
32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act
32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act
32.3 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act
32.4 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, each of the registrants has dalysed this report to be signed ol
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

HIGHWOODSPROPERTIESINC.

By: /s TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

HIGHWOODSREALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIF
By: Highwoods Properties, Inc., its sole generatrpa

By: /sI TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 8, 2009

54



Exhibit 31.Z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material daamit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteo€ircumstances under which such statements made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemenis,adimer financial information included in this qteaty report, fairly present in i
material respects the financial condition, resaftsperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaaral for, the periods presente:
this quarterly report

4. The Registrang other certifying officers and | are responsiliedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢k)) and internal control over financial repaogti(as defined in Exchange ¢
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurbe tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhsabsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this quarterly reparbieing preparet

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahmégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repodirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registeadtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtids report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period covmyedis report based on st
evaluation; an

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regisisainternal control over financial reporting thatcooed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hateraly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the Registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

5. The Registransg other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internalrobiver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of Registrarg’ Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions!

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Reg’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimancial information
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significdatin the Registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 8, 2009

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS
Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




Exhibit 31.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material daamit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteo€ircumstances under which such statements made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemenis,adimer financial information included in this qteaty report, fairly present in i
material respects the financial condition, resaftsperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaaral for, the periods presente:
this quarterly report

4. The Registrang other certifying officers and | are responsiliedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢k)) and internal control over financial repaogti(as defined in Exchange ¢
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurbe tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhsabsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this quarterly reparbieing preparet

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahmégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repodirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registeadtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtids report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period covmyedis report based on st
evaluation; an

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regisisainternal control over financial reporting thatcooed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hateraly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the Registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

5. The Registransg other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internalrobiver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of Registrarg’ Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions!

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Reg’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimancial information
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significdatin the Registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 8, 2009

/s EDWARD J.FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer of the GehBeatner




Exhibit 31.¢

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material daamit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteo€ircumstances under which such statements made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemenis,adimer financial information included in this qteaty report, fairly present in i
material respects the financial condition, resaftsperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaaral for, the periods presente:
this quarterly report

4. The Registrang other certifying officers and | are responsiliedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢k)) and internal control over financial repaogti(as defined in Exchange ¢
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurbe tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhsabsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this quarterly reparbieing preparet

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahmégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repodirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registeadtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtids report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period covmyedis report based on st
evaluation; an

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regisisainternal control over financial reporting thatcooed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hateraly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the Registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

5. The Registransg other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internalrobiver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of Registrarg’ Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions!

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Reg’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimancial information
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significdatin the Registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 8, 2009

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS
Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officethe General Partnt




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwso®roperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form QOfor the period endt
March 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities andtzaxge Commission on the date hereof (the “RepdrtBdward J. Fritsch, President :
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursua@td06 of the Sarbane3xley Act ol
2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of
Company.

/s EDWARD J.FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Offic
May 8, 200¢




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwso®roperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form QOfor the period endt
March 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities andHaxgge Commission on the date hereof (the “Repdriterry L. Stevens, Senior Vi
President and Chief Financial Officer of the Compagertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adbjersuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of
Company.

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
May 8, 200¢




Exhibit 32.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highweddealty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Pathi”) on Form 109 for the
period ended March 31, 2009 as filed with the Séesrand Exchange Commission on the date herbef“@eport”),l, Edward J. Fritscl

President and Chief Executive Officer of Highwodi®perties, Inc., general partner of the OperaBagtnership, certify, pursuant to
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 db#nbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of
Operating Partnership.

/s EDWARD J.FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Officer of the GehBeatner
May 8, 200¢




Exhibit 32.¢

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highweddealty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Pathi”) on Form 109 for the
period ended March 31, 2009 as filed with the S&esrand Exchange Commission on the date herbef“@®eport”),l, Terry L. Steven:
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial OfficEHigghwoods Properties, Inc., general partner ef@perating Partnership, certify, purst
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 8f@edsarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of
Operating Partnership.

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officethe General Partnt
May 8, 200¢




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material daamit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteo€ircumstances under which such statements made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemenis,adimer financial information included in this qteaty report, fairly present in i
material respects the financial condition, resaftsperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaaral for, the periods presente:
this quarterly report

4. The Registrang other certifying officers and | are responsiliedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢k)) and internal control over financial repaogti(as defined in Exchange ¢
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurbe tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhsabsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this quarterly reparbieing preparet

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahmégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repodirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registeadtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtids report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period covmyedis report based on st
evaluation; an

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regisisainternal control over financial reporting thatcooed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hateraly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the Registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

5. The Registransg other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internalrobiver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of Registrarg’ Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions!

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Reg’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimancial information
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significdatin the Registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 8, 2009

/s EDWARD J.FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Offic




